



# Undocumented Migration Overview

### State-of-the-art country reports

Work Package 2

#### **Undocumented Worker Transitions**

EU Sixth Framework Programme Contract Number: 044272

Prepared by the International Centre for Minority Studies and Intercultural Relations, Working Lives Research Institute and Université Libre De Bruxelles July 2007

### Contents

Executive summary	3
1. Introduction	5
2. EU and international legal instruments related to migration	8
2.1. International legal instruments	8
2.2. EU legal documents	8
2.3. Latest developments in the area of economic migration	
2.4. Undocumented migration and return	12
2.5. Migration and development	
2.6. International legal documents related to refugees	13
3. EU Framework of employment law affecting migrant workers	15
3.1 Analysis of the general dispositions of EU Labour law in relation to	
migrants	
3.2. The recognition of EU labour law rights for migrants	
4. National migration and employment legislative systems	
4.1. Historical account of migration policies	
4.2. Overview of current immigration legal framework	
4.3. Employment law framework in the participating countries	
4.4. Details of migrant registration and control processes	
4.5. Support by institutions	35
5. Review of statistical data on migration	
5.1. Migration data from statistical reports	
5.2. Estimates of undocumented migration	
6. The impact and experience of undocumented migration	
6.1. The impact of undocumented migrant labour	
6.2. The experiences of undocumented migrants	
6.2.1 Work	
6.2.2 Access to services	
6.3 Migration status transitions	
Bibliography	62

#### **Executive summary**

Our review of the existing statistical data, literature and policy on migration, and particularly on undocumented migration, in the seven partner countries reveals:

- In all of the seven countries surveyed, migration has moved high up in the political agenda, as contradictions between differing public policy needs are played out, with growing distinctions between 'desired' migration, which is identified as coming from within the EU and sharing 'characteristics' which are observed as similar to those of the host population and 'undesired' migration, which consists of those not sharing these 'characteristics', which in reality refers to those whose skin colour is not white.
- In all of the seven countries legislative changes, particularly over the last 20 years, have generally followed similar patterns, which include a limitation of third country migration, essentially to cases of family reunion, a special permit system for high skilled workers and legislation to tighten control on illegal migration. At the same time, in relation to refugee rights of entry, the pattern in many of the partner countries is towards tighter regulation, accompanied with restrictions on freedom of movement and on the right to work.
- There is evidence of an increasing focus on 'integration' requiring the adoption by migrants of the languages and customs of the host country, as a fundamental requirement of permanent residence. But there are also different policies in relation to migration, with large-scale amnesties in some of the partner countries and a fundamental opposition to these as a response to illegal migration in others.
- Throughout all seven partner countries, employment rights for migrant workers from third countries, and in some cases from EU Member States, are linked to the issue of work permits of different types, with resulting different employment and residence entitlements now existing within most of the partner countries.

- All participating countries lack sufficient and reliable data on migrant workers. However, there are discernable patterns of employment. The main sectors of employment for working migrants in all countries covered by this report, with the exception of Bulgaria, are domestic services, (i.e. work in families), hotels and catering, tourism, industry (in particular, construction) and agriculture.
- Little has been written about the experiences of undocumented migrants in any of the partner countries. However, what evidence there is shows that a consistent feature is the particularly vulnerable position that undocumented migrants have in the labour market. There is also some consistency, based on the data that does exist, in relation to the sectors of employment that they work in, and participation in the informal economy.
- Concerning statistical data, often there are often varied and conflicting estimates, even of documented migrants, but particularly in relation to undocumented migration.
- In relation to access to services, undocumented migrants either have no right of access to public services, primarily health services or have restricted access. They are more reliant on services provided through NGOs or voluntary organisations.
- In countries there are many ways for migrants to become irregular, either on arrival in the country without permission or through remaining in the country beyond their permitted period of stay, or breaching the terms of their resident permit, such as by working. The ways in which irregular or undocumented migrants can then gain documented status vary in each country: Belgium, Italy and Spain have operated large-scale regularisation programmes, while other countries, such as Austria and the UK, reject this approach entirely, and Denmark and Bulgaria are reluctant to admit that undocumented migrants exist in their countries.

### 1. Introduction

The increasing flow of international migration has made it necessary to develop a common migration policy at EU level. There are two reasons for this imperative: First, the peculiarities of the socio-political situation in the past two decades have made migration a leading topic in the political agenda of many Member States, and second, although the industrialised states benefit from migration, there is still a significant public and political resistance to any liberalisation of the existing policies and regimes in this area. In order to avoid the problems resulting from the ensuing conflict, derived from the right to free movement, the governments in the host countries have been faced with the challenge of finding a balance between the conflicting positions of State, business and citizens. On the other hand, freedom of movement is one of the fundamental principles upon which the European Union was founded, although recent EU enlargement has been accompanied by a series of restrictions, introduced by the old EU Member States to set limits on prospective migration from the new Member States.

There are two key issues for the EU resulting from these contemporary developments: how to stop the illegal flow of migrants, who, having once crossed the external borders of the EU, present difficulties to the authorities in tracing them. On the other hand, there is an ongoing debate on the management of legal migration, caused by the widespread recognition that Europe needs to import foreign labour, as a consequence of demographic changes including ageing populations, low birth rates, together with the prospect of social security systems in crisis. It is quite apparent that all Member-States (even the new entrants) require labour in certain sectors to meet their economic and demographic needs – a gap that could be filled by migrant workers. This raises the following questions: How could Member States attract the workforce demanded by the labour market without putting further strains on social security systems? How best can Member States manage their responsibilities in relation to migration? To what extent should measures in the field of migration be under the control of Member-States and to what extent they should be determined at EU or at international level?

This report sets out the actual situation on migration in each participating country, focusing, in particular on undocumented workers. It presents general information and data provided by the seven partner organisations, working under the EU funded "Undocumented Worker Transitions" project. The partners are made up of six old Member States, represented by the Working Lives Research Institute, London Metropolitan University (UK); the Université Libre de Bruxelles, (Belgium); Università Ca' Foscari Venezia, Laboratory of Training and Research on Immigration (Italy); Forschungs - und Beratungsstelle Arbeitswelt, Aspernbrueckengasse (Austria); Gabinet d'Estudis Socials, (Spain), the Roskilde University (Denmark); and one new Member State, Bulgaria, where immigration is a recent phenomenon. It is represented by the International Centre for Minority Studies and Intercultural Relations.

All seven partners produced their state of the art reports following an agreed standard template. The basic objectives of these reports were to document migration flows in the seven participating countries; to describe their existing legislative systems, including their recent history and their impact on migrant worker status and access to work; to understand the pathways into and within the countries; to review the literature on migration in each participating country to support work on expert and migrant interviews, as well as for the thematic reports; and to identify the data sources on undocumented migration in each participating country.

As a result all partners have included in their reports existing country literature on migration; available data from statistical reports, analysis and media; the impacts of migration on labour markets; the informal economy and migration; relevant policy documents on migration (legal and illegal) and its impacts. Sources of statistical data on illegal/undocumented migration include existing government and statutory agency estimates; academic reports; industry estimates; press reports; voluntary organisation/refugee/migrant organisation estimates; border and passenger data, etc.

As regards the terminologies used by the partners, it has become clear that it is not unified and that different terms are utilised in different countries. The Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants (PICUM) prefers the terms 'undocumented' or 'unauthorised' to 'illegal', a term which nevertheless has been commonly used in some of the participating countries. This term is not accepted by PICUM due to its association with criminality. Defining people as 'illegal' can mean that their humanity has been denied (PICUM, 2006: 1). The UK Institute for Public Policy Research uses an alternative term 'irregular migrants' and not 'undocumented', meaning 'people who are liable to be deported for issues related to immigration status' (ippr, 2006: 5)

The terms 'compliant', semi-compliant' and non-compliant' is another categorisation, developed by Ruhs and Anderson (2006), where compliant migrants are legal residents who work in full compliance with the conditions of their immigration status, non-compliant are those migrants who have no rights to reside in the host country and semi-compliant migrant refers to legally residing migrants but who are working in violation of some or all of the conditions attached to their immigration status (Ruhs and Anderson, 2006).

The glossary, which is to be developed by the project partners, is aimed at standardising the terminology of migration within the participating countries, with the aim that it will be utilised by other researchers in the future when researching migration.

### 2. EU and international legal instruments related to migration

#### 2.1. International legal instruments

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) provides the basis for all UN human rights conventions (1948). Although the UDHR is a declaration only and is not binding on states, in 1968 the UN International Conference on Human Rights decided that it "constitutes an obligation for the members of the international community" for all persons.<sup>1</sup> Today the UDHR is considered to be part of customary international law and is thus intended to be binding on all states. Thus the International Bill of Human Rights consists of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948), the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (1966) and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966). Other Human Rights Instruments, which are thematic or protecting of specific groups are the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (1965), the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (1979), the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (1984), the Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) and the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (1990). All of the Member States of the EU have ratified all of the above<sup>2</sup>, with the exception of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. Thus, the provisions granted in each of the human rights' conventions must be considered to be binding on all of the Member States.

#### 2.2. EU legal documents

In October 1999 the European Council agreed in Tampere (Finland) to coordinate the national measures in the field of migration, aiming at the establishment of a common policy towards all migrants coming to the EU. The five-year Hague programme (2005-2010) confirmed the Tampere approach,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See OHCHR, Fact Sheet No 2 (Rev.1), The international Bill of Human Rights, Geneva, June 1996, (http://www.unhchr.ch/html/menu6/2/fs2.htm) <sup>2</sup> The status of ratification of the different treaties can be consulted at the web page of the OHCHR,

<sup>(</sup>http://www.ohchr.org/english/bodies/docs/RatificationStatus.pdf)

stating as its aims: to develop the EU into an area of freedom, security and justice. 2010 is the target date for the adoption of most of the legislation needed on the setting up a common migration and asylum policy for the EU Member States.

Migration became an issue of common interest and of EC competence with the **Maastricht Treaty** (1993), which established the European Union. It stated its aims to develop and consolidate democracy and the rule of law, and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms (The Maastricht Treaty: 1993). **The Treaty of Amsterdam** (1999), aimed to maintain and develop the Union as an area of freedom, security and justice, in which the free movement of persons is assured, in conjunction with appropriate measures with respect to external border controls, asylum, immigration and the prevention and combating of crime. (The Treaty of Amsterdam,1999). Migration policy as a consequence of this Treaty became a full EU responsibility (Article 61). It was the **Tampere European Council (October 1999),** however, which was the first to address the development of the European Union as a unified region of freedom, security, and justice. The Tampere agenda determined the elements for a common EU migration policy.

To launch a debate with the other EU institutions and with Member States and civil society, the European Commission presented, in November 2000, a Communication to the Council and the European Parliament, which recommended a common approach to migration management. This was followed in July 2001 by another Communication, which proposed the adoption of an open method of coordination for Community migration policy, to encourage the exchange of information between the Member States on the implementation of the common policy.

The main outcomes, during the period of implementation of the Tampere programme (1999-2004), include proposals on legal migration, integration, illegal immigration, and relations with third countries:

#### Documents on legal migration

- <u>Council Directive 2003/86/EC</u> of 22 September 2003 on the right **to family reunification**; entered into force on 3 October 2003.
- <u>Council Directive 2003/109/EC</u> of 25 November 2003 on a long-term resident status for third country nationals who have legally resided for five years in the territory of a Member State; entered into force on 23 January 2004.
- <u>Directive 2004/114</u> on the conditions of admission of third-country nationals for the purposes of studies, pupil exchange, unremunerated training or voluntary service was adopted by the Council on 13
   December 2004; entered into force on 12 January 2005. Member States' legislation had to comply with the Directive by 12 January 2007.
- <u>Directive 2005/71</u> for the facilitation of the admission of researchers into the EU was adopted by the Council on 12 October 2005. Its provisions will have to be implemented by Member States by 12 October 2007.

#### **Documents on integration**

- A policy paper was adopted by the EC in June 2003 (<u>COM (2003) 336</u>) on migration, integration and employment which called on EU Member States to step up their efforts to integrate migrants.
- A network of National Contacts Points on Integration has been set up and meets regularly to exchange and discuss best practices. The Network provided valuable input for the preparation of the Handbook on Integration, published in November 2004.

#### Documents on illegal immigration

- On 28 February 2002, the EU Council of ministers adopted an Action plan on illegal migration to combat illegal migration and trafficking of human beings in the European Union.
- On 28 November 2002, the Council adopted a Return action programme which suggested developing a number of short, medium and long term measures, including common EU-wide minimum standards or guidelines, in relation to the return of undocumented residents.

Documents referring to relations with third countries

- Readmission agreements have been concluded with a number of countries (Macao, Sri Lanka, Albania) and Hong Kong, and negotiations with several others are ongoing.
- Assisting third countries On 10 March 2004 the European Parliament and the Council adopted a Regulation establishing a programme for financial and technical assistance to third countries in the area of migration and asylum (AENEAS).

It is important to note that the common EU immigration policy does not apply to **Denmark**, which opted out of Title IV of the Treaty establishing the European Community. The **UK and Ireland** decide on their involvement on a case-by-case basis (possibility of an 'opt-in').

## 2.3. Latest developments in the area of economic migration

After a debate on the need of common rules for the admission of economic migrants, a Policy Plan on Legal Migration was adopted in December 2005 (COM (2005) 669), which lists the actions and legislative initiatives that the Commission intends to take in order to pursue the consistent development of EU legal migration policy; As regards the field of integration, in June 2006 the Commission presented the Second Annual Report on Migration and Integration (SEC (2006) 892) which provides an overview of migration trends in the European Union, analysing the changes and describing actions taken regarding the admission and integration of immigrants at national and EU level in 2004; In September 2005 the Commission adopted the communication "A Common Agenda for Integration - Framework for the Integration of Third-Country Nationals in the European Union" (COM (2005) <u>389</u>). This Communication provides new suggestions for action both at EU and national level. Member States are encouraged to strengthen their efforts, with a perspective of developing comprehensive national integration strategies, while new ways of ensuring consistency between actions taken at EU and national level are proposed.

#### 2.4. Undocumented migration and return

In July 2006 the Commission adopted a **Communication** on policy priorities in the fight against illegal immigration of third-country nationals (<u>COM (2006)</u> <u>402</u>), which builds on the guiding principles and EU achievements and further develops new priorities. It follows a comprehensive approach, striking a balance between security and the basic rights of individuals and thus addresses measures at all stages of the undocumented migration process. It includes *cooperation with third countries* (joint patrols, surveillances and reinforced response capacity), *further strengthening the external borders* ((creation of a generalised and automated entry-exit *system* for registration, "e-borders" system), *fight against human trafficking* (EU plan on best practices), *regularisation of undocumented immigrants, Return policy* (further readmission agreements, enhanced use of joint return flights), *improved information exchange* (ICONet, Europol).

In order to fully implement the Return Action Programme agreed in 2002, the Commission adopted in September 2005 a proposal for a Directive on common standards and procedures in Member States for returning illegally staying third-country nationals. The objective of this proposal is to provide for clear, transparent and fair common rules concerning return, removal, use of coercive measures, temporary custody and re-entry, while taking into full account the respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms of the persons concerned.

In order to tackle illegal employment at EU level, the Commission adopted, in May 2007, a proposal for a Directive providing sanctions against employers of illegally staying third-country nationals. This proposal is concerned with immigration policy, not with labour or social policy. Its main objective is to sanction employers, not the illegally employed third-country nationals.

#### 2.5. Migration and development

In September 2005 the Commission adopted the Communication "Migration and development: some concrete orientations" (<u>COM (2005) 390</u>). This Communication constitutes the response of the European Union to the invitations made by the Council in March 2003 and the European Council in November 2004, to submit concrete proposals to respond to the impact of migration on economic development in countries of origin. The Communication highlights a number of concrete orientations in the following areas: remittances; facilitating the involvement of willing Diaspora members in the development of countries of origin; facilitating brain circulation; and limiting the impact of brain drain.

#### **2.6.** International legal documents related to refugees<sup>3</sup>

The legal instruments for protection of refugees are based on the international system regulated in the:

- Geneva Convention (1951) and the New York Protocol (1967). These
  determine the criteria, to which a given person should conform, in order to
  be recognised a refugee, including the conditions under which s/he will not
  be considered a refugee.
- The Statute of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and the universal international legal documents referring to the human rights' protection are also an essential part of the legal tools of the international system for protection of refugees. The basic categories of persons who enjoy the protection of the UNHCR are refugees and asylum seekers; stateless persons, refugees who return voluntarily to the country of their nationality, internally displaced people in the country of their nationality, and people at risk.
- The Convention of the Organisation of African Unity (OAU) regulating the specific aspects of refugee problems in Africa (adding some more objective elements to the definition of refugee).
- The Cartagena Declaration on refugees (1984), which distinguishes refugees from other categories of migrants
- European Council Regulation 343/2003 defining the responsible Member State to consider the refugee's application (Dublin II) and the EURODAC system
- **EU Council Directive 2001/55/EC** on Minimum Standards for Temporary Protection in case of mass flows of displaced people and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See <u>http://www.unhcr.org/protect/43672f0a2.html</u>

measures taken for achieving a balance in the efforts of the Member States, in accepting such persons.

- **Council Directive 9/EC/2003/EC** of 27 January 2003 laying down minimum standards for the reception of asylum seekers.
- EU Council Directive 2004/83/EC on minimum standards for the qualification and status of third country nationals or stateless persons, as refugees or as persons who otherwise need international protection, together with the content of the protection granted.
- Council Directive 2005/85/EC of 1 December 2005 on minimum standards on procedures in Member States for granting and withdrawing refugee status;
- UNHCR Provisional Comments on the Proposal for a Council Directive on Minimum Standards on Procedures in Member states for Granting and withdrawing refugee status (Council document 14203/04, Asile 64, of 9 Nov. 2004)
- Schengen Implementation Agreement for the abolition of internal border controls among the signatory states and increased control of the common external borders, June 1990.

# 3. EU Framework of employment law affecting migrant workers

## 3.1 Analysis of the general dispositions of EU Labour law in relation to migrants

EU labour law is directed towards legal migrant workers only, generally through legal provisions in relation to members of minority ethnic groups, through EU policies on the integration of disadvantaged people in the field of employment.

Some specific provisions were introduced in favour of migrants and members of minority ethnic groups in the field of employment, through the Antidiscrimination legal framework, including the two EU directives and the programme against discrimination<sup>4</sup>.

In addition, the employment guidelines for 2003-2005 and 2005-08, drawn up within the context of the European Employment Strategy created in 1997, include specific guidelines concerning migrants and members of minority ethnic groups.

Several European instruments such as the European Social Fund, EQUAL, URBAN and the European Refugee Fund are dedicated to the promotion of high levels of employment and economic and social cohesion and are especially dedicated to the promotion of equal opportunities in accessing the labour market for those exposed to social exclusion. For the period 2007-2013, some specific actions will be also dedicated to integration, through the PROGRESS programme and a European Integration Fund will be created.

At national level, new provisions have been drawn up to assess the impact of National Reform Programmes on the labour-market integration of migrants. These are monitored and Member States are encouraged to develop labourmarket integration policies and ensure the application of the Directives on discrimination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Commission launched a campaign in favour of diversity in 2003 for five years. The first year was dedicated to diversity in the workplace.

### **3.2.** The recognition of EU labour law rights for migrants

Among the main objectives of EU migration policy, determined by the Tampere Council (1999), the equitable treatment of foreigners was the basis for a common policy for the integration of *legal* residents<sup>5</sup>. The idea was to provide a set of rights as similar as possible to the rights recognized for European citizens. As a result, several rights in EU labour law are applicable to migrants who have acquired long-term resident status after five years of residence in a Member State through the directive on long-term residents<sup>6</sup>. This text is based on the principle of equal treatment in relation to social rights. As a result, migrant workers have the right to work, both as selfemployed or as employees; they also benefit from the principle of nondiscrimination in access to employment, vocational training, education, social security, social help and social protection, trade-union rights and access to goods and services.

In addition, the directive enables migrants, in certain conditions, to gain access to one of the most important rights recognized for European citizens in the field of the individual labour law: freedom of movement.

The directive on family reunification, adopted in 2003<sup>7</sup>, is also of some interest because it recognizes specific social rights for certain family members, such as access to education, employment and vocational training under the same terms as the applicant.

But if all EU member states are in agreement on a common strategy to integrate migrants, to fulfil the Lisbon agenda, they are less in agreement on the adoption of a common EU legal framework on the conditions of access for new third country nationals to the EU, given that the imposition of limits on rights of entry remains the prerogative of each Member State. That is why the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> That means that undocumented migrants are totally excluded from all EU common immigration and asylum policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Council Directive 2003/109/EC of 25 November 2003 concerning the status of third-country nationals who are long-term residents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Council Directive <u>2003/86/EC</u> of 22 September 2003 on the right to family reunification.

proposal for a Directive concerning the conditions of entry and stay of non-EU nationals looking for employment was abandoned after lengthy negotiations between Member States who were extremely reluctant to support a European legal framework in the field of economic migration.

In order to fulfil the mandate given by the Hague Programme, the Commission adopted the policy plan on legal migration in December 2005 (COM (2005) 669). The Commission plans to present a set of legislative proposals concerning the conditions of entry and residence for third-country nationals in employment. This mainly concerns certain categories of migrants, such as the highly skilled and seasonal workers, intra-corporate transferees and remunerated trainees. But these proposals will be contained within a general framework directive. They will not deal with the procedures and conditions of admission for third-country nationals in employment and Member States will remain competent to determine the levels of migration.

# 4. National migration and employment legislative systems

#### 4.1. Historical account of migration policies

In all of the seven countries surveyed, migration has moved high up in the political agenda, as contradictions between differing public policy needs are played out. On the one hand demographic changes and an aging European population (particularly in the older EU States), require the introduction of additional labour forces, which migration can provide, and this is particularly the case in relation to lower-skilled and low-paid employment. On the other hand, a general growth in xenophobia and racism has made policy makers reluctant to be seen as positively encouraging all migration. For this reason there are growing distinctions between 'desired' migration, which is identified as coming from within the EU and sharing 'characteristics' which are observed as similar to those of the host population and 'undesired' migration, which consists of those not sharing these 'characteristics', which in reality refers to those whose skin colour is not white. In the case of the latter, there is a generalised tightening of immigration controls. In the light of this, EU migration policy, which limits the entry of third country nationals while encouraging the free movement of EU nationals, contributes to this divide. How this is played out in the seven countries is documented below.

Other observable features include the switch, in most of the partner countries, from being principally countries of outward migration, to being major inward migration destinations. In some cases State policies have been slow to respond to this change and host populations have not necessarily welcomed the change.

In the UK since the election of the New Labour government in 1997, migration has been high on the political agenda, with measures to control the numbers of asylum seekers and then a policy of "managed migration" to encourage economic migration where it is seen to benefit the UK economy. Undocumented or "illegal" migration has also become an increasing focus of interest, with concern about the exploitation and conditions of migrants, at the same time as increasingly stringent government policy in relation to border controls and tackling "abuse" of the immigration system.

Austria has never officially defined itself as a country of immigration, and the principle of 'jus sanguinis' applies to citizenship requirements. Until the1970s migration policy was exclusively dealt with in the context of an employment policy and has been oriented to a "guest worker regime". However, in 1974 this policy was terminated. In 1990, a quota for the employment of foreigners was introduced, defined as a maximum share of foreign workers in the total workforce (eight per cent presently). For the first time a quota for family reunification was introduced, and, since 1998, provision for the granting of a residence permit for humanitarian reasons. Since 2002 labour migration has been confined to "key workers" and temporary workers. For a maximum period of seven years, migrants from the new EU-members states are not allowed to work in paid employment independently from the Austrian quota system. The tendency has been to implement and interpret EU migration directives as restrictively as possible (König/Perchinig, 2005: 2).

Spain is a typical example of a country, which from a refugee and immigrant producing State, has turned into a major host country for migrants in Europe. Developments within the Spanish labour market definitely influenced the commencement of new waves of migration. This is a consequence of the development of the service sectors and the growing demand for domestic/household employment, as a result of the increased incorporation of woman into the labour market. At the same time the increasing level of young people's qualifications has created labour shortages in low-skilled employment. The geographical characteristics of Spain have contributed to it becoming a key destination for migration flows. A further major flow of migrants into Spain is related to historical and economic links to Latin America. In the period 2000-2007 Spain became the Member State with highest active migration flows. Currently, the number of migrants living in Spain is over two million, representing five per cent of the total population. A study by the Foundation of the Spanish Savings Bank (FUNCAS) forecasts

over six million migrants in Spain by the year 2010. This would make Spain the country with the highest migrant population within the EU.

Prior to the late 1950s Denmark had a net emigration, due to relatively high levels of unemployment in the post war era. By the end of 1960s there was a notable net immigration to Denmark of a few thousand people, mainly from Turkey, Yugoslavia and Pakistan. These migrants have filled gaps in labour market as a consequence of important structural changes, but their participation in civic life was extremely poor and limited. After 1973 migration continued, mainly through family reunification. Since the beginning of 1990s more restrictive immigration policies have been introduced. Taking all together, more than one third of the 1985 Danish migrants originated from neighbouring/ western countries, but this share has reduced to 15 per cent by 2006. Amendments to asylum laws and legislation on family reunification have brought about a considerable decline in family reunification inflows. Very recently a tightening of the requirements for permanent residence has been introduced. A perceived value conflict between a migrant culture (that is widely identified as Islamic) and the standards of a democratic society has moved from organisational level to the nation wide policy arena (Goli, 2007).<sup>8</sup>

Italy, a traditional country of emigration, has had a positive migration balance only since 1973. Until the late 1970s the immigrant population in this country was essentially stable (200,000 immigrants) and it was only in the late 1990s that migration became a "mass phenomenon". Today, with over three million documented migrants (including 20,675 refugees) and approximately 760,000 undocumented, Italy has the fifth largest migrant community within the EU and ranks first where undocumented immigrants are concerned. Thus migrants have become a structural component of Italian society. In the dominant discourse migration has been represented either as a threat to national

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Immigrants and descendants whose origin is from Muslim countries make up a majority of migrants and their descendants, but specifically a majority among migrants and descendants from third countries. When speaking of migrant related 'problems' in Denmark, the debate is almost exclusively addressed to the issue of migrants originating from Muslim countries and their descendants. (Goli, 2002) There is no register information on the number of Muslims in Denmark. Statistics in Denmark estimated that there were approximately 120,000 Muslims in Denmark as of 1 January 1999, but has carried out no calculations since that time. Researchers estimate that there are currently some 210,000 Muslims in Denmark.

security or as a vital resource for the economy and as a response to weak demographic growth. These two representations aim at the inferiorisation of the migrants and hierarchisation between the host and migrant workers and between the migrants themselves. These processes of inferiorisation and hierarchisation have then been institutionalised by migration policies themselves.

Belgium was more a country of emigration than immigration during the 19th century, but saw the first waves of migration of workers from Italy, Eastern Europe and the Maghreb from 1920. Following the Second World War, and until the 1970s, Belgium signed eight bilateral labour agreements with Italy, Spain, Greece, Morocco, Turkey, Tunisia, Algeria and Yugoslavia. However, in 1974 labour migration was officially ended in Belgium, except for very specialist labour not present in the Belgian labour market. Through successive reforms, the right to live in and enter the country were restricted to family reunification (1984), foreign students (1982, 1984), and tourism (visas have been required since 1986).

Migration is a much more recent phenomenon in Bulgaria and the number of migrants is small compared to other European countries. Nevertheless, regulation and control of the processes of migration is one of the priorities of the Bulgarian government. Bulgaria's new migration policy is aimed at achieving an optimal balance between the freedom of movement of people and the control of illegal immigration, while respecting fundamental human rights and freedoms.

#### 4.2. Overview of current immigration legal framework

In all of the seven countries legislative changes, particularly over the last 20 years, have generally followed similar patterns, which include a limitation of third country migration, essentially to cases of family reunion, a special permit system for high skilled workers and legislation to tighten control on illegal migration. At the same time, in relation to refugee rights of entry, the pattern in many of the partner countries is towards tighter regulation, accompanied with restrictions on freedom of movement and on the right to work. There is also evidence of an increasing focus on 'integration' requiring the adoption, by

migrants, of the languages and customs of the host country, as a fundamental requirement of permanent residence. But there are also different policies in relation to migration, with large-scale amnesties in some of the partner countries and a fundamental opposition to these as a response to illegal migration in others.

In the UK legislation to control immigration was introduced in the 1960s and in the Immigration Act of 1971. Since the 70s only strictly limited economic migration has been permitted for skilled workers through the work permit scheme and further requirements for family reunification. At the same time the government has been taking an increasingly "tough" approach to border controls and illegal migration.

When the Labour government came to power in the UK in 1997, asylum and immigration procedures were considered to be failing, so they began a 'modernisation' of migration policy, concentrating on improving administrative procedures while at the same time deterring asylum seekers with the Asylum and Immigration Act 1999 (Flynn, 2005). The government's *Secure Borders, Safe Haven* White Paper in 2002 (Home Office, 2002) went further in developing its policies on 'managed migration', referring to the economic and social benefits of migration. But it also talked about the need for the social integration of migrants, community cohesion and for routes to gaining UK citizenship. Flynn (2005) argues, though, that migration policy was being shaped by the needs of business, both for skilled labour and unskilled labour, whose rights in relation to length of stay, family reunification etc., varied according to the scheme under which they entered and depending on employer demand for labour.

The legislative reforms initiated by the Austrian government in the 90s, covered all areas related to migration, including entry, residence, employment, and asylum. These reforms must be regarded as a substantial change in the Austrian migration regime, moving from a system of flexible reaction towards the demands of the labour market to a strictly regulated and limited system of migration. (König/Stadler: 2004). Austrian legislation allows different kinds of residence permits for third country nationals: temporary residence permits;

settlement permits for key personnel; permanent residence - European Community; visas for less than six months for third country nationals working temporarily; and permits for domestic work in an Austrian family. In 1998 an amendment to the Aliens Act differentiated between temporary stay and the settlement of migrants in Austria. A system of consolidation of residence *(Aufenthaltsverfestigung)* was established, resulting in an incremental improvement of living conditions and residence of long-term migrants in Austria. The possibility of issuing a residence permit for humanitarian reasons was introduced in 1998 as well, offering one of the few ways for residents without documents to attain a legal status.

In Spain regulation of entry and residence of migrants, until the mid-eighties, was very open and legal residence could be obtained relatively easily. Migration issues were almost non-existent in the institutional framework, until 1986 with the entrance of Spain into the EC. In 1984 the Law of Asylum came into force, followed, in 1985, by the Law of Rights and Obligations for Foreigners, the so-called Foreigners' Law. Thus, Spain began to be defined as a host country for migrants while trying to rebuild its impoverished labour market. The basic document that regulated the stay of migrants in Spain up to 1999 was the Organic Law 7/1985. A new Immigration Law came into force in 2000 but was amended three times by the then governing Popular Party (PP), with the main aim of tightening further the asylum regulations and restricting entry. In 2004, the socialist government announced a new regularisation campaign for undocumented migrants in Spain and on 30 of December the law was reformed under Royal Decree 2393/2004 of the Organic Law 4/2000. The approval of this Decree was the result of converging efforts to try and make migration legal. Its main objective is to speed up the authorisations to fill those employment vacancies that cannot be filled by workers currently resident in Spain. On 7 January 2005 the State published the Royal Decree that amended the Law of Foreigners, creating a period of three months for the regularisation of undocumented workers. This came into force on 7 February 2005.

Currently, migrants in Denmark generally receive a permanent residence permit if they have lived in Denmark for seven years, completed an introduction programme and passed a Danish-language competency test. Under the rules of family reunification, foreign nationals with relatives in Denmark can be granted residence permits. Since July 2005, such applicants must sign a "declaration of integration". Spouses or registered partners must be over 24 years of age. The so-called "combined attachment" of the couple to Denmark must be greater than the attachment to the country of origin of the spouse. This requirement is waived if the individual, already resident in Denmark, has had Danish citizenship for 28 years or more, or was born and has lived in the country for 28 years. Section 8 of the Aliens Act specifically stipulates that, in addition to an individual's needs, language ability, educational background, etc., and motivation should also be taken into account in the selection of quota refugees. Denmark has a dispersal policy refugees with proper status are distributed across the country, by means of quotas per region (counties), and then broken down to the level of the municipality.

In Italy, Law 943/86 permitted amnesties, while Law 39/90 (Martelli Law) allowed the "governing" of migration through flow decrees. This legislation prescribes that only the employer can undertake procedures to authorize an entry and hence the migrant worker is excluded from requesting a residence permit. The annual setting of entry quotas and the cyclical recourse to amnesties have been fully assimilated by Law 40/98 (Turco-Napolitano Law), which can be considered the first organic law on migration in Italy. In the latest Law 189/2002 the sponsor mechanism was abolished; maximum terms of validity of residence permits and of unemployment were reduced; maximum terms of detention in the temporary accommodation centres were doubled: income and residence parameters for family reunification were raised; access to public housing was limited to migrants holding documented employment and a residence card, or residence permit for at least two years; the penal offence of "illegal re-entry" was introduced. The system of annual entry quotas for seasonal workers has been structured in a "selective" manner, reminiscent of the old Gastarbeiter model.

Compared to other nations, refugee status has been granted to very few applicants in Italy (only 20,675). This situation is due to the fact that "Italy continues to be the only member state of the European Union that has no organic law on the right to asylum" (UNHCR, 2005). The relevant legislation is: Law 39/90, which established some forms of assistance for asylum seekers and refugees and withdrew the geographical reserve stipulated in the ratification of the Geneva Convention; Law 286/98, which instituted a residence permit for humanitarian reasons and for temporary protection; Law 189/2002, which decentralized the procedures for the recognition of refugee status, and introduced the accommodation of asylum seekers in "identification centres". A person has no right to work until refugee status has been granted and thus asylum seekers seek work within the underground or shadow economy.

In Belgium the main legislation affecting migrants is the Law of 15 December 1980 on entry to the country, rights to stay, settlement and removal of foreigners. This law controls the administrative status of migrants at all stages of their stay in Belgium. Asylum seekers' and refugees' rights were curtailed by the law of 1987 that reinforced border controls; the law of 1991 allowing the detention of asylum seekers at the border; and in 1993, the first detention centres were created. But two major legislative changes occurred in 2006, mainly to comply with EU directives on migration and asylum, but also to deal with the accumulation of asylum seekers, called subsidiary protection, which applies when an asylum seeker does not meet the Geneva Convention criteria, but fears persecution, such as the death penalty or execution, torture or ill-treatment, or violence in the case of armed conflict.

The Belgian Citizenship Act of 1984, which was reformed several times (in 1991, 1995, 1998) in order to facilitate access to citizenship, is seen as the best way to integrate migrants into Belgian society (Carlier and Rea, 2001). The reform of 1 March 2000 allows foreigners to apply for Belgian nationality after seven years of legal residence, without any condition on integration.

Belgium has had two regularisation operations: the first was carried out in 1974, following the decision to close the borders, and the second began in January 2000 and lasted more than 24 months. During this time applicants for regularisation did not receive any financial or material assistance from the authorities, but due to pressure from NGOs, the Belgian Minister of Labour made a decree granting a provisional work permit to candidates for regularisation.

To harmonise national legislation with existing EU laws, Bulgaria has amended its acting laws as regards foreign citizens, immigrants and refugees. According to the Foreigners in the Republic of Bulgaria Act (FRBA) of 1998 there are three possible regimes for foreigners to stay in Bulgaria: short-term residence permits (up to 90 days); long-term residence permits up to one year; and permanent residence with unlimited terms. Individuals granted humanitarian protection come under the rules applying to foreigners with permanent residence permits. Bulgarian citizenship applies to all born to parents, at least one of whom has Bulgarian citizenship. A person born within the territory of the Republic of Bulgaria may acquire Bulgarian citizenship only if she/he does not acquire other citizenship by virtue of origin. The possibility for naturalisation is envisaged as well, with a facilitated procedure for persons of Bulgarian origin.

The Asylum and Refugees Act (ARA) of 2002 provides for the types of specific protection procedures, and for the conditions for the granting of asylum and refugee status to foreigners in Bulgaria. The provisions of the ARA pay special attention to individuals with specific needs, including women and unaccompanied minors.

## 4.3. Employment law framework in the participating countries

Throughout all seven partner countries, employment rights for migrant workers from third countries, and in some cases from EU Member States, are linked to the issue of work permits. What is notable is the preponderance of different types of permit, with resulting different employment and residence entitlements now existing within most of the partner countries.

In the UK the national employment law framework is based on the existence of a valid and legally enforceable employment contract and this contract remains the primary determinant of entitlement to statutory employment rights. Under UK law migrants working with authority have access to the same employment rights as UK workers. However, for migrants who are noncompliant or semi-compliant (working without or beyond their authorisation), their employment contracts are 'illegal' and therefore not enforceable. The fact that in the UK employment rights are dependent on employment status and on the type of contract under which employment occurs, means that some workers are excluded from basic rights like those to protection over matters like dismissal, redundancy, maternity, paternity and parental rights. People working under illegal contracts were most likely to be paid less than the national minimum (McKay et al, 2006). Furthermore, whether or not a worker can enforce employment rights is dependent on the level of support and information available to the worker and is premised on knowledge of rights. Although this applies generally to all workers, given their labour market vulnerability, unauthorised migrants are disproportionately affected by the general failure of UK employment law to guarantee basic employment rights to all workers.

In 2005 the UK government published its five-year strategy for asylum and immigration (Home Office, 2005). It proposed the replacement of all visa and work permit procedures with a single points-based system. Thus, skilled workers will be further prioritised in the UK from 2008, when there will be a single points-based system, made up of five tiers: highly-skilled professionals and entrepreneurs; skilled workers; low-skilled workers; students; youth mobility schemes and temporary workers who are allowed into the UK for cultural, charitable, religious or international development reasons (Home Office, 2006a). However, it is only skilled workers who will be offered routes to settle in the UK.

The Work Permits system is currently the main mechanism for labour migration in the UK. Other schemes are the Highly Skilled Migrant Programme (HSMP); Seasonal Agricultural Workers' Scheme (SAWS) with an overall annual quota; Working Holiday Makers' Scheme, which allows Commonwealth citizens aged between 17 and 30 to come to the UK for an extended holiday of up to two years; Worker Registration Scheme (WRS), which was introduced on 1 May 2004 when the A8 countries of Central and Eastern Europe joined the EU and were granted the right to work in the UK. In May 2003 the Sectors-Based Scheme (SBS) was introduced, to address shortages in lower skilled occupations, but is being phased out. Domestic workers can come with their employer to the UK, and are normally given permission to stay for six to 12 months. Students have the right to work for a limited number of hours.

The employment of migrants in Austria is regulated under the Alien employment law. In principle an employer may only employ a foreigner if he/she has been granted an employment permit by the Austrian Employment Service or if the foreigner possesses an entitlement according to the Alien employment law (e.g. work permit, certificate of exemption, confirmation of freedom of movement etc.) or the Residence and Settlement Act (e.g. unlimited settlement permit, "permanent residence – European Community" etc.). The following work permits can be granted by the Austrian Employment Service or, according to the Alien employment law, to third country nationals: temporary work permits; work permits; certificate of exemption for five years. The Federal Ministry of Economics and Labour may, by means of a decree, permit the short-term employment of third country nationals (up to six months). Students from third countries may work in minor employment, i.e. they may work less than 12 hours per month or with a monthly salary of less than 333.16 Euro (2006). Unemployed migrants are eligible for unemployment benefits if they have the right to be employed. Most social security system benefits are only granted after five years of regular residence.

In Spain there are different measures regulating the employment relationships of migrants and the labour market, and these are related to access to employment; to promotion within employment; and to training and employment. Working migrants in Spain are regulated by the same Law as the indigenous working population. The main differences arise before acquiring fully compliant working permits. Once migrants acquire a work permit, the law establishes that their working conditions cannot be worse than those for Spanish nationals, including the right to a minimum wage. Hence, in Spain, the main debate is not about the rights of migrant workers, but about the right to access work permits.

The aim of the current Spanish legislation is that it should apply to foreign workers who are undertaking the jobs that nationals do not want or cannot cover (Aguilera, 2006). However, in practice there are many migrants who enter and remain undocumented in the country, and work without having the legal documentation. As Aguilera also explains, a great number of migrant workers access the labour market by non-compliant channels - mainly into the submerged and semi-submerged economies. This highlights the failures of the national policies on migration.

Labour Migration in Denmark is regulated by one Ministry dealing with almost every aspect of integration and immigration. According to the first Integration Act of 1999, the responsibility of integration was transferred from the Danish Refugee Council to the municipalities. Work permits are issued for a limited time period. For certain professions permits are granted for three years at a time, and after seven years work permits become permanent. In July 2002, a job-card scheme was established to facilitate the recruitment of people with professional qualifications. Students can extend their permits for three months after termination of their studies and may stay if they find a job. In April 2006, plans were announced to extend this period to six months, by means of the so-called "Green Cards".

Currently social assistance comes in three different forms: "cash aid"; "introduction contribution"; and "start aid". The general idea behind differentiating social assistance is that reduced benefits constitute an incentive to find a job.

In Italy, the institutionalisation of labour market stratification and the levelling downwards of workers' living and working conditions go back to Law 863/84. Furthermore, Law 146/1990 introduced limitations on the right to strike. These measures were systemised in Law 196/97, designed to flexibilise labourmarket hiring mechanisms. Law 30/2003 was aimed also at (de) regulating the labour market. The evolution of migration and labour market policies are linked by, on the one hand, the tendency to institutionalise the processes of flexibilization, hierarchization, and competition between workers - as single individuals and as "racialized" individuals - already operating in the labour market; and, on the other, the tendency to extend, to the entire body of the working class, the forms of casualisation that have been previewed precisely on the backs of migrant workers. The combination of these two trends is leading to an extreme individualisation of employment relationships, which is reflected in the current social relations between workers, expressing themselves in "specific" forms of discrimination, such as racism, sexism, religious discrimination, etc. Objectively, then, this process of casualisation has very precise political outcomes, which consist in undermining the conditions of resistance and the united struggles of workers.

In Belgium there is a clear distinction between migrants' access to work in the private and public sectors. Employment in the private sector is regulated by two laws, one for salaried and the other for self-employed workers. In 2003, two ordinances simplified procedures and facilitated access to the labour market for migrants and refugees. The main changes concerned the link between the right to stay and the right to work: foreigners who have the right to stay for an unlimited period automatically obtain the right to work without the need for a work permit. All other migrants, such as regularised migrants or victims of human trafficking, obtain a limited work permit for a maximum of 12 months. It also introduced a new work permit: permit C. Three categories of work permit now exist: *permit A*, a long-term permit valid for all employers and all sectors; *permit B*, a short-term permit for one or several employers; and *permit C*, a one-year permit only for one employer. The latter is available to those staying legally and temporarily in Belgium for a reason other than work (i.e. eligible asylum seekers or students).

Public sector employment was strictly reserved for Belgian citizens, although EU citizens gained access to these jobs in 1968. But since 2002 migrants have had access to regional civil service employment, although not in all roles.

Citizens of the new Eastern European EU member States require a work permit for an interim period of seven years, from 1 May 2004. However, from 1 May 2006, access to the labour market became easier, particularly in certain sectors of labour shortage. In 2006, two Belgian reports (Centre pour l'Egalité des Chances et la Lutte contre le Racisme, 2006; Conseil Supérieur de l'Emploi, 2006) and an EU Communication<sup>9</sup> suggested abandoning these transitional measures to respect the principle of free movement of European citizens and due to the fact that migratory flows had been controlled during the first transitional period.

Labour migration in Bulgaria is regulated through the domestic legislative acts. An important act in this field is the Regulation on the Terms and Procedures for Issue, Denial and Withdrawal of Work Permits of Foreigners. Bulgaria adheres strictly to the principle of the equal treatment of those foreigners who have been employed, with regard to work conditions, payment, holidays, dismissal, etc. Migrants in Bulgaria may work if they have permanent residence permits and they are under the regime applicable for the Bulgarian citizens. Those falling under the other two regimes of residence (long-term or short-term residence permits) may work as well, but only after receiving *permission* from the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy and they can work only for the employer and for the term determined in the permission for work. An important note is that the very expression of will by a foreigner to work after receiving permission serves as a ground for that person to receive a long-term residence permit. Foreigners working in Bulgaria have all rights and obligations that Bulgarian citizens have, save where the internal legislation or international treaties do not explicitly provide otherwise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Commission des Communautés européennes, COM (2006) 48: « Rapport sur le fonctionnement des dispositions transitoires visées au traité d'adhésion de 2003 (période du 1er mai 2004 au 30 avril 2006)», 2006.

The Bulgarian employment law framework includes the Income Taxes on Natural Persons Act, in which it is explicitly stated that people who have been granted asylum can benefit from tax concessions for their children. The Employment Promotion Act establishes legal guarantees for direct or indirect discrimination and for the equal treatment of legally employed foreigners in terms of labour conditions, payment, dismissals, etc.

### 4.4. Details of migrant registration and control processes

In all partner countries there are state authorities responsible for migrant registration and control processes. In general these are linked to the internal or Home Office ministries but also have close links with the State security police.

In April 2007 the Border and Immigration Agency in the UK took over responsibility for immigration control, work permits, nationality and asylum from the Immigration and Nationality Directorate, but it remains part of the Home Office. Both indigenous workers and migrants require a National Insurance Number in order to work, which are allocated by the Department for Work and Pensions. Although the UK government is opposed to one-off amnesties for undocumented workers, there is a permanent system of regularisation for those who have been in the country continuously for 14 years, regardless of legal status, and for families with small children who have been in the country for seven years. In 1998, 5,900 long residence concessions were granted. A domestic worker regularisation programme ran between July 1998 and October 1999. However, less than 200 took advantage of regularisation, due to requirements that were difficult for many to meet (Levinson, 2005).

The Austrian Federal Ministry of the Interior is responsible for the regulation of inflow and resident status of migrants, both long and short-term, and the Federal Ministry of Economic Affairs and Labour regulates access to t he labour market. The Aliens Police is in charge of enforcement of the Aliens Act, and the provincial governments are responsible for residence, settlement permits and granting of citizenship. Civil Registry offices do not forward any information on illegal residence on their own initiative to the Aliens police, but are obliged to assist if asked. The Employment Service supervises the access of migrants to the labour market and is in charge of issuing work permits. Asylum policies belong to the realm of the Ministry of the Interior. The KIAB (Kontrolle illegaler Arbeitnehmerbeschäftigung - Central Taskforce for the Prevention of Illegal Employment) is responsible for the identification of illegally employed workers.

In Spain the Home Office and specifically the Immigration service are responsible for dealing with border controls. Migrants enter Spain in many ways. Many Latin Americans arrive with tourist visas, often through other EU countries (Amsterdam is a common entry point), while most migrants from Africa cross the 14-km wide Strait of Gibraltar in small boats (*pateras*). The Spanish police arrested over 18,000 migrants in *pateras* in 2002, up from 3,600 in 1999, and the Moroccan authorities arrested an additional 15,000. Spanish police boats patrol the Strait, and estimate they catch one in four migrants attempting entry into Spain. Asians arrive via many routes, including via Schengen visas issued by countries such as Greece or other Schengen-member countries.

The basic state institution dealing with registration of migrants and refugees in Denmark is the Integration Ministry (The Ministry of Refugees, Immigrants and Integration), which deals with almost every aspect of immigration and integration. There are two different types of passports available to foreigners: the Convention passport - for those who have been granted asylum, and the Danish alien passport for all other foreigners who have received residence permits. In Denmark religion and state are not totally separated, which means that even if the faith of a citizen is Buddhism or Islam, s/he is still required to register with the offices of the Christian-Lutheran Church.

In Italy the Ministry of Interior is responsible for control and registration procedures of migrants and refugees. Law 40/98 instituted some administrative measures (such as the "permanent residence card"), delegated to the regional and local Administrations, and designed to include documented migrants. It also introduced the right to access to the national health system for documented migrants and guaranteed undocumented migrants the right to urgent out-patient and hospital treatment, provided by public or accredited services. Only 396,470 immigrants (21.8 per cent of documented migrants) held permanent residence cards on 31 December 2005, out of a total of 1,200,000 who had the required number of years of residence. Law 40/98 introduced "temporary accommodation centres" ( "administrative" detention centres) as a measure to combat illegal entries. The measure of 2005 decrees that the employer must *guarantee the housing* and repatriation expenses of migrant workers, which "residence contract" means migrant workers are in a situation of greater dependence on employers.

In Belgium several state institutions deal with the registration of migrants and refugees. The Register of the population records individuals who have the right to live in Belgium; as Belgians, EU citizens and non-EU legal residents and refugees who been in Belgium for five years. The national Register contains data on individuals, including nationality. These data come from the Population Register (all Belgians), the Foreigners' Register (all legal foreigners) and Refugees' Register. Another Register (BCSS) includes all persons who are not registered, or no longer registered, in the general population Register, for example, those who have left Belgium or transborder workers.

A law passed in 2006 introduced a new system of registration in order to better control the employment of foreign workers (independent, employees, student or trainee) who come to Belgium for a short time for work. Declaration should be made to the National Office of Social Security (ONSS) before starting work.

Recent developments involve the institutionalisation of measures to combat 'illegal working' and social welfare fraud. The law of 3 May 2003 provides a co-ordinated institutional framework for policies to combat illegal work and social services' fraud through, for example, a focus on prevention measures, the presentation of proposals to Ministers, and the establishment of recommendations for legal changes in relation to the fight against illegal work. In Bulgaria the Ministry of Interior Act was amended to establish a Migration Directorate within the Ministry, which carries out administrative control over foreigners in Bulgaria. Its duties include the issuing, denial and withdrawal of permits for both short-term and long-term residence in Bulgaria, collecting and analysing information on migration processes and proposing measures for regulating them, as well as taking measures against illegal immigrants. Immigration control is implemented also by the National Border Police Service. There are special Anti-Trafficking Task Forces responsible for gathering intelligence information on illegal trafficking.

#### 4.5. Support by institutions

In the UK, Austria, Denmark, and Italy government policies have resisted the reforms advocated by some humanitarian organisations. Trade union organisations as well as religiously based organisations have played a key role in the protection of the rights of migrant workers. In addition, in many countries there are organisations specifically focused on the rights of migrants and refugees. In the UK, for example, organisations such as the Joint Council for the Welfare of Immigrants (JCWI) and the Institute of Employment Rights (IER) call for according explicit rights to migrant workers and for a regularisation programme for irregular migrants. The UK trade unions increasingly work to support and recruit migrant workers, and the Trades Union Congress has supported a range of initiatives for migrant workers, many of which work with migrant or minority ethnic community organisations.

In Austria the system of Social Partnership (comprising the Austrian Chamber of Labour, the Austrian Federal Trade Union and the Austrian Federal Economic Chamber/ Association of Industrialists) is strongly involved in policy-making. The Chamber of Labour and the trade unions provide counselling in workers' rights, though, irregular migrant workers are not covered by this service. IOM Austria serves as the National Contact Point for Austria within the framework of the "European Migration Network". Advice centres for migrants are run by NGOs providing confidential support.

The small boats travelling between Spain and Morocco have been the focus of recent control efforts under SIVE (an integrated system of surveillance). As

an Amnesty International report notes, many of the people who arrive at the Moroccan frontier with Ceuta (the closest Spanish city to Africa), come from countries where grave human rights violations are known to take place. Once these migrants arrive in Ceuta they are often forced to live in poverty in the streets due to the overcrowding of reception centres, where living conditions are extremely poor. The institution supporting migrants in such cases is the Spanish Commission for the Help of Refugees. The Spanish government has persistently received formal complaints from human rights organisations in relation to allegations of police brutality against refugees who sleep on the beaches. Some NGOs and the church also support migrants in Spain.

Criticism of Danish immigration and integration policy stems from many sources, including the Danish Institute of Human Rights, the MS Danish Association for International Co-operation, some migrant organisations and private research institutes like the Centre for Alternative Social Analysis (CASA).

In Italy the main institutions supporting immigrants are trade unions, NGOs and the Church. Migrant workers themselves have also resisted labour exploitation, principally through two channels: associations and trade unions. Some associations - such as the Immigrants in Italy Committee - have been able to overcome "national barriers" and organise themselves as genuinely multinational associations. Today migrant workers can be seen as a fundamental component of the trade union base, both as members (526,000 in 2006) and as delegates. Migration, bringing to light both the contradictions and the potential of associations and of trade unions, is proving to be a powerful factor of social transformation.

In Belgium the organisation with the main responsibility for the integration of migrants in employment is the Centre for Equal Opportunities and the Fight against Racism, created in 1993. It runs specific programmes, for example, on the integration of migrant women into the labour market. However, it is difficult to evaluate the impacts of such measures which some (Martens, Verhoeven, 2006) say is due to the lack of a coherent system of registration and monitoring of members of minority ethnic groups. There is a debate about the

whether to start ethnic monitoring in Belgium (Ouali, 2004). The Centre's aims also include the observation and evaluation of the conditions of detention and expulsion of undocumented migrants in the light of their fundamental rights, and the fight against human trafficking.

The main Bulgarian institutions dealing with migrants and refugees are the State Agency for Refugees, the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, the labour offices and the regional employment offices. They work in close cooperation with the Sofia office of the UNHCR, the Refugee migration service with the Bulgarian Red Cross and some NGOs, such as the Assistance Centre for Torture Survivors (ACET), which deals with victims of torture, including migrants and refugees, and the Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, defending violations of migrants' human rights. There are labour and social integration programmes relating to migrants and refugees, providing social support, financial benefits, and assistance in the process of registration in the labour market or enrolment of children at schools. An Integration Centre for Refugees has been functioning since 2001, where refugees can acquire language skills and vocational training.

# 5. Review of statistical data on migration

## 5.1. Migration data from statistical reports

All participating countries lack sufficient and reliable data on migrant workers. However, there are discernable patters of employment. The main sectors of employment for working migrants in all countries covered by this report, with the exception of Bulgaria, are domestic services, (i.e. work in families), hotels and catering, tourism, industry (in particular, construction) and agriculture.

In relation to the statistical data often there are often varied and conflicting estimates, even in relation to documented migrants. In the UK, for example, there is no single, comprehensive source of data on migration or migrant workers. The overall trend since the 1990s has been for a net increase in migration to the UK, with the number of people arriving to live in the UK in 2005 estimated at 565,000, compared to the 380,000 estimated to be leaving the UK for at least a year, leaving a net inflow of 185,000. The largest inflow in 2005 was of EU citizens (of which 80,200 were from the A8 countries), and the largest number of those leaving were British citizens. The largest numbers of both those coming to the UK and leaving were aged between 25 and 44 (246,000 in and 175,000 out), but the greatest net inflow was among 15 to 24 year-olds (124,000). Among those aged over 45 there was a net outflow (Salt, 2006: table 1.5).

In 2006 the Labour Force Survey (LFS) showed an increase in the numbers of foreign nationals in the UK to 3.35 million, accounting for 5.7 per cent of the total UK population of 58.6 million. Among the UK workforce, foreign nationals accounted for 6.2 per cent (1.75 million) of the total UK workforce of 28.1 million. Europeans made up 44.8 per cent of the foreign workforce, with growing numbers of Central and Eastern Europeans, who accounted for 16.7 per cent of foreign workers in 2006. Asian nationals were 22.2per cent, with Indians making up 8.1 per cent, while 16.1 per cent were African nationals (including 4.4 per cent from South Africa) (Salt, 2006: table 4.4). Men account for 54.5 per cent of foreign nationals working in the UK, both among Europeans and non-Europeans (although this not significantly different from

UK nationals, in which the proportion of males is 53.2 per cent) (Salt, 2006: table 4.3).

In Austria the population was approaching 8.3 million by 2006, including a non-citizen population of about 814,000 (10 per cent of the total population) and a naturalized population of around 770,000, together constituting about 19.2 per cent of the resident population. In 2006, about 37 per cent of the population without Austrian citizenship had origins in one of the post-Yugoslav countries; those with Turkish citizenship accounted for 14 per cent; German citizens were 12.8 per cent; 5.8 per cent were citizens of other old EU States, 9.5 per cent were citizens of 2004 EU enlargement countries–, 6.5 per cent were citizens of Asian countries; and -, and 2.6 per cent came from African countries. The number of non-nationals in the workforce is 432,886 (of whom 171, 619 are women), of whom 320,000 are from non EEA-countries. A total of 215,000 workers have a third-country national work permit. Migrants are more likely to be affected by unemployment (9.7 per cent in 2006) than Austrian citizens (6.8 per cent) and also experience discrimination in terms of career opportunities and remuneration.

At the beginning of the 1990s the government introduced more restrictive regulation of asylum seekers. The rate of granting asylum seeker status was 40 per cent in 2006, varying by country: 84 per cent of Russian nationals (Chechens) were accepted as refugees, whereas Indians and Nigerians were only accepted as refugees in 0.5 per cent and 3 per cent of cases respectively.

Estimates of the number of migrants in Spain varied on 31 December 2006 from 3,021,808 (Permanent Observatory on Immigration) to 4,225,900 (EPA -Labour Force Survey). The foreign workforce is 2,461,100, accounting for 14.4 percent of the workforce. The main sectors of employment for migrant workers are the construction industry and domestic service, although there has been a recent increase in employment in the industrial, agricultural, hotel and tourism sectors. In Denmark, migrants and their descendents represented 8.5 per cent of the population in 2006 (463,235 people), an increase from 5.3 per cent in 1995. Most were from non-Western countries (327,511): the main countries of origin being Turkey (55,550), Iraq (26,922), Bosnia and Herzegovina (20,952), Lebanon (22,509), Pakistan (19,284), Somalia (16,564) and other Asian countries (63,073). In 2005 migrants were engaged mainly in business activities (18,198), or in hotels and restaurants (11,670), social work (9,922) and retail (9,537). Since the peak in 1995, when 20,347 people received refugee and other status, the number receiving such status has decreased substantially, amounting to only 1,147 in 2005. More than half (55 per cent) of migrants from non-western countries were in the workforce on 1 January 2005; compared to 63 per cent among descendants of migrants, and 80 per cent of Danes.

There were 3,035,144 documented migrants in Italy on 31 December 2005, according to the estimates of the latest Dossier Caritas, accounting for 5.2 per cent of the population. Nearly half the country's migrants are concentrated in three regions (Lombardy - 23.5 per cent; Lazio - 13.1 per cent; and Veneto - 11.1 per cent); while, at the provincial level, over one fifth are located in just two provinces - Rome (11.4 per cent) and Milan (10.9 per cent). In recent years there has been a steady rise in the number of migrant women: from 45.8 per cent of the migrant population in 2000 to 49.9 per cent today. The number of minors and newborn children also increased: there were 585,496 minors on 31 December 2005, who made up 21.9 per cent of the total number of documented immigrants. Over a half (55.6 per cent) were born in Italy.

Over the past ten years in Italy there has been a marked increase in the population from Eastern Europe. The greatest number of migrants is from Europe (48.8 per cent of the total), followed by Africa (23.1 per cent), Asia (17.4 per cent) and the Americas (10.6 per cent). The seven largest populations making up about one half of all documented migrants are from Romania (11.9 per cent), Albania (11.3 per cent), Morocco (10.3 per cent), the Ukraine (5.2 per cent), China (4.9 per cent), the Philippines (3.4 per cent) and Poland (3.2 per cent).

At the end of 2005, working migrants from non-EU countries were working in: services - 57.8 per cent (11.9 per cent in services for companies; 10.8 per cent working in families; and 9.5 per cent in hotels and catering); industry -37.8 per cent (construction, 14.5 per cent; metalworking, 7.6 per cent); and agriculture - 5.3 per cent. Workers from the newly-admitted EU Member States are mainly in agriculture (26.9 per cent), hotels and catering (16.5 per cent) and domestic labour (13 per cent). Most migrant workers are employed in small and medium firms. The proportion of permanent job contracts among legally employed migrants (85 per cent at 31/12/2006) is slightly lower than among the whole employed population (86.8 per cent). At the end of 2005, the number of migrant workers with a residence permit and a work permit was 2,078,396, which is 11.9 per cent of total workforce.

On 1 January 2004 there were 860,287 legal foreigners in Belgium, one of the highest proportions of foreigners in the population in the EU (8.3 per cent). Most are European citizens (68 per cent), mainly from EU15 States (66 per cent are Italian, French or Dutch). Among migrants from the new EU member States, Polish citizens are the largest group. Among non-EU citizens, Moroccans, Turks and Congolese are the largest groups.

The rate of economic activity for migrants (48 per cent) was lower than for the Belgian population (69 per cent) in 2004. The employment rate was also higher for Belgians (62 per cent) than for foreigners (50 per cent), while the unemployment rate was much higher for foreigners (25 per cent) than for Belgians (12 per cent).

The migrant labour market in Belgium is segmented and segregated: ethnic minorities and foreign men and women are over-represented in a few sectors and professions, as revealed through statistical analysis by Vertommen et al. (2006). It shows that Moroccans are strong over-represented in 'industrial cleaning', 'hotels and restaurants' and 'temporary employment': compared to native Belgians, Belgian Moroccan (naturalised) men are 24 times more likely to work in 'industrial cleaning'. A similar pattern is found for Turkish workers, who are over-represented in 'industrial sectors', 'industrial cleaning', 'agriculture' and 'temporary employment'. Turkish employees are even less

represented in public and/or high-wage sectors than the Moroccan working population. Sub-Saharan Africans, both men and women, work to a large extent in 'hotels and restaurants', health and social work' and 'temporary employment'. This last sector is the largest sector of employment for new Belgian and foreign men.

According to official data of the Bulgarian Ministry of Interior, the total number of non-Bulgarians in 2006 was 94,703, or 1.2 per cent of the total population of 7,679,290 at the end of 2006. There were 67,607 people with a long-term residence permit, 5,474 with a permanent residence permit, based on marriage to a Bulgarian or foreign citizen, and 7,343 allowed to reside on the basis of trade activities. The number of students with short-term residence permits was 14,279. Most of those with a permanent residence permit have settled in the larger cities, which provide better opportunities to find work or start a business (MI: 2007). According to the data of the National Statistical Institute, those from European countries outside the EU represent 69.8 per cent of the migrants with permanent status, followed by citizens of Asian countries (13.9 per cent), those from North and South America (1.2 per cent) and Africa (1 per cent). The majority of the permanent foreign residents in December 2004 were from the CIS (61.6 per cent), the Russian Federation in particular. This was due to the former patterns of migration from East to East. During the period 1991 to 2007 migrants with long-term and permanent residence came mainly from Turkey (7,671), the Russian Federation (4,358) and China (1,766) (MI: 2007).

There has been a change in flows between new and old EU Member States: while the number of people from EU CEE member states who would like to settle in Bulgaria has decreased, the number from Western Europe who would like to permanently settle in Bulgaria has increased. Nevertheless, the EU citizens represent only 8 per cent of those who were granted of permanent resident status in Bulgaria in 2004. Migrants from neighbouring countries account for 9.5 per cent of all those with permanent residence; and people without citizenship make up around 3 per cent of permanently residing migrants (mainly Kurds and Palestinians) (NSI: 2005). Among legally residing migrants, including refugees, 74 per cent (or 73,778) are working in Bulgaria (BHC, 2006), which represents 3.8 per cent of working people in the private sector. Employment rates are high among all migrant groups, especially among those with permanent residence permits (83.3 per cent) and naturalised Bulgarian citizens (83.9 per cent). Among refugees, including those with humanitarian status and temporary protection, 63.5 per cent are employed.

### 5.2. Estimates of undocumented migration

In all countries covered by this report it has been difficult to identify existing reliable data on undocumented migration. Very different estimates have been produced, based on previous research or on existing government data, the latter mainly collated from the security services' detection of undocumented migrants. In none of the partner countries is there data that we can confidently cite with any degree of accuracy. It should therefore be noted that the following data reflect a variety of definitions and sources.

The only UK government estimate of the number of unauthorised migrants ranged from a lowest estimate of 310,000 (0.5 per cent of the UK population) to 570,000 at the highest (1 per cent), with a midpoint of 430,000 (0.7 per cent) (Woodbridge, 2005). This estimate used the residual method to deduce the number of unauthorised migrants, by taking the total foreign-born population recorded in the 2001 Census and subtracting an estimate of the foreign-born population residing legally. Based on these figures, the IPPR estimates that there would be around 216,850 irregular migrants in work (IPPR, 2006).

Some indication of the profile of undocumented migrants in the UK is provided in Black et al's (2005) study of illegally resident migrants in detention centres. It found that their average age was 29 years, and 88 per cent were male. Over half of all respondents had completed secondary school, and 17 out of 83 had a college or university education.

In Austria the number of "full-time illegal workers" in 2004 was put at 789,000 Austrians and 114,000 foreigners by Schneider (2004), while Biffl considered that approximately 50,000 to 70,000 migrants were engaged in informal employment (Biffl, 2002: 363). Others estimate that between 60,000 and 170,000 persons are working in the informal domestic service sector alone (Haidinger, 2005). Biffl found that 5,000 to -7,000 more children (aged 6-15 years) were registered at school than recorded by demographic surveys (Biffl, 2002: 102-127).

Since July 2002 the KIAB (Central Taskforce for the Prevention of Illegal Employment) has not collected data on the nationality of undocumented workers. Up to 2002, most illicit<sup>10</sup> migrant workers (around 60 per cent) came from central Europe (e.g. Poland and Slovakia) and the successor states of the former Yugoslavia. Around 20 per cent were from Turkey and a further 10 per cent from the CIS (Jandl, 2004). Most undocumented migrant workers s were found living in Vienna and the surrounding province of Lower Austria (BMWA, 2002). In 2003 the sectors with the highest share of 'illicit' labour were catering (26 per cent), the building industry (21 per cent) and sub-contracted construction work (17 per cent). In 2006 the KIAB carried out 18,021 operations, detecting 5,942 illegally employed non-Austrian citizens.

The foreign population in Spain, registered in the *Padrón* (a continuously updated Census), at the end of 2006 was 3.88 million and the number of residents (with residence permit or authorisation card) was 2.74 millions, indicating that there could be 1,145,641 undocumented individuals. However, this calculation is far from accurate, because of the unreliability of the actual numbers included in the *Padrón*, and the fact that many undocumented migrants do not register, and has given rise to different interpretations (1,640,000 according to the Partido Popular, and 440,000 according to the government). This makes establishing the number of undocumented migrant workers an even more complex task. If data from the Labour Survey and the data from the social security records are compared, it can be seen that, by the

<sup>10</sup> In Austria, the terms 'illicit' or 'undeclared' work describe three different areas of the 'hidden economy': the employment of workers who, illegally, are not registered or wrongly registered by the employer with the statutory social insurance bodies; business activities that firms, illegally, leave out of their accounts, thereby defrauding the tax authorities; and paid work carried out - without a formal business-operating licence - by and for individuals beyond an (unclear) threshold of simple 'neighbourly' help (AT0202203F).

end of 2006, there were around 777,826 migrant workers not registered with the social security system, who must work in the Spanish informal economy.

Research on illegal migration in Denmark is almost non-existent. Estimates (not based on any scientific methodology) have suggested there are "somewhere between 1,000 and 5,000 illegal immigrants" (Helle Stenum, Radioavisen, Dato: 31.12.2006, Kilde: Infopaq System Id: 5981641). This estimate is probably based on data from researchers and the media on the number of refugees whose application for asylum has been turned down, but who have not left the country. According to information from 2006 alone, 1,600 refugees disappeared<sup>11</sup>. Border police at the southern border of Denmark detained 241 undocumented migrants in the period 1 January 2007 to –10 February 2007. A recent report from the Integration Ministry indicates that about 1,400 Ukrainian students are residing and working without permission.

Some research has shown that in recent years the Danish informal economy includes both native Danes and migrants. Research on undocumented work by Rockwool Fond's Research Unit, shows that undeclared work exists in many sectors, but particularly in agriculture, building, manufacture and construction]. Other research by the University of Roskilde (Rezaei & Goli :2006) shows that undeclared work makes up about 20 per cent of working hours among migrant-owned businesses.

There are no primary sources on numbers of undocumented migrants in Italy. It is nonetheless possible to produce general estimates based on secondary sources. Data on regularisations also provide some figures on undocumented migrants: the most recent estimates by the Fondazione ISMU are of 760,000 undocumented migrants in Italy on 1 July 2006, while the Eurispes estimate is 800,000. The Fondazione ISMU put the figure at 541,000 in 2005, which suggests a 25 per cent increase in a single year.

The Italian Ministry of the Interior reports that the majority of undocumented migrants are overstayers (60 per cent in 2005; 63 per cent for the first quarter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> G:/forkon-e/diverse/redegørelse for status på arbejdet med udsendelse af afvist asylansøgere, Den 6. oktober 2006 J. nr.: 2004-5141-83-JKP151 + bilag

of 2006) or persons who entered Italy from other Schengen area countries (25 per cent in 2005; 24 per cent for the first quarter of 2006). Thus those entering "illegally" are a small part of the total.

Very different estimates of undocumented migrants have been made in Belgium. The Flemish federation of small and medium-sized companies in the construction industry (Bouwunie) estimated that in 2001 between 80,000 and 135,000 undocumented migrants were working in Belgium, compared to the figure of 1,669 from the inspectorate of the Ministry of Social Security. The disparity between the figures can be explained by the fact that the figures from Bouwunie are based on an estimate, whereas those of the Ministry are based on data from inspection controls, carried as a result of tackling trafficking in human beings.

Another estimate was based on data from the 2001 regularisation campaign. An NGO and academic researchers carried out a survey of 340 undocumented migrants to discover how many had requested regularization. It appeared that more than half (57 per cent) had submitted a claim. This percentage was then used to establish an estimate of the number of undocumented migrants in Belgium, which came to 87,700. However, this estimate must be put in context, considering the small sample size (340 people) and the fact that the migrants were in contact with NGOs, which increased the chances that they had submitted a regularization claim.

The lack of systematic and officially accessible statistics on the number of migrants in Bulgaria makes it even more difficult to determine numbers of undocumented migrants. According to the Ministry of the Interior (2007), there are no estimates of the total number of undocumented migrants residing in Bulgaria, but they have provided our researchers with figures for 2004-2006 of 386 from Afghanistan, 495 from Turkey, and 310 from Armenia. There were 5,769 people detained on the border during 2003-2006 (MI: 2007). Based on statistical techniques it would be possible to estimate the number of undocumented migrants in Bulgaria at about 13 per cent of total number of migrants, or about 13,000 people (see Annex 6, Bulgarian report)

According to the Bulgarian Helsinki Committee, the rate of employment among migrants in Bulgaria is 74 per cent). (73,778). Using statistical techniques (see Annex 6, Bulgarian report) the provisional estimate of the number of the undocumented working migrants is 9,620.

# 6. The impact and experience of undocumented migration

There has been little research into the experiences of undocumented migrants in all the countries covered by this report. This section looks at what evidence there is of the role of undocumented migrants in the informal economy, and their experiences of employment, as well as accessing to services such as health and education. It also considers research showing how migrants can make the transition both into and out of irregular status.

#### 6.1. The impact of undocumented migrant labour

Many undocumented migrants work in the informal economy, although in each of the participating countries they account for only a part of the informal sector. The informal economies in some countries, such as the UK, Italy, Spain and Bulgaria, preceded undocumented migration, and the two processes have contributed to the deepening of the process of casualisation. The main sectors in which undocumented migrants work are: construction, agriculture, textiles, hotels and restaurants, cleaning, care and domestic work. It is difficult to measure the proportion of undocumented migrants in the informal sector. A UK study aiming to measure the size of the informal economy in the inner London Borough of Haringey (Community Links, 2006), found that 23 per cent of the sample had been involved in the informal economy in the last year, two-thirds of whom were male. The study did not discuss migration status, but 45 per cent were from the UK and 27 per cent were from Western Europe, and so can be presumed to have no restrictions on working in the UK. Another 14 per cent were born in Africa and 7 per cent from Asia (ibid: table 17).

Undocumented migrants appear to be only a small percentage of irregularly employed workers in Austria (Schneider; Biffl, 2002). The main sectors of informal economic activity of migrants include construction, hotel and restaurant industry, cleaning/childcare/domestic work, the health care sector, agriculture and entertainment, and minority ethnic-owned businesses. Women are mostly engaged in health care and cleaning in private households, as well as entertainment. Male employment is mostly in the construction sector and agriculture. Some experts regard undocumented migrant work as complementary to the formal economy, while others argue that other migrants – already settled in Austria – compete with undocumented migrants, who are willing to accept far worse working conditions than 'settled' migrants or Austrian citizens. The need for migrant workers to engage in the informal economy results primarily from employment prohibitions due to their nationality, but also from language difficulties, discrimination towards migrants in the Austrian labour market, the non-recognition of foreign qualifications and migrants' weak negotiating position. Highly qualified migrants have to accept work in low income sectors, where their qualifications are not relevant. Migrants are more likely to be affected by unemployment (9.7 per cent in 2006) than Austrian citizens (6.8 per cent) and also experience discrimination in terms of career opportunities and remuneration.

Undocumented migrants in Spain will most likely work in the informal economy, having the hardest and most insecure jobs, with the worst working conditions. Often they have no contract, work on a temporary basis and receive the lowest incomes.

Recent research in Denmark indicates that one of the major impacts of undocumented and undeclared work among migrants is a cycle of upward socio-economic mobility, specifically when the formal structure is rigid (Rezaei & Goli, 2006). This occurs when undocumented and undeclared labour is provided by recent migrants (those who have considerably shorter length of residence, are often not naturalised and are without a permanent residence permit) and used by longer-term migrants, who have been residing in the country for several years, most of whom are naturalised or with permanent residence.

In Italy the informal economy is a significant part of the economy: in 2004 it produced an added value equal to 17.7 per cent of GDP with 2,794,000 undocumented units of labour, corresponding to a rate of irregularity of 11.5 per cent (the proportion of all labour that was irregular) (ISTAT, 2006a). In 2003, 21.8 per cent of the added value produced in services was produced by the informal economy, with 20.5 per cent in agriculture and 10.7 per cent in

industry (including construction). The rate of irregularity was 13.5 per cent in services (18.4 per cent in commerce, in hotel services, in public commercial concerns, in transport); 5.7 per cent in industry (3.8 per cent in industry proper, 11.2 per cent in the construction industry); and 18.3 per cent in agriculture.

The exact scale of the informal economy is not known in Belgium, but several methods suggest that it may be expected to account for between 15.3 per cent and 20.8 per cent of Gross National Product. Most undeclared employment is undertaken by Belgian nationals (making a bit on the side in addition to their regular working hours or while claiming benefits). There are no precise figures on the percentage of undocumented or documented migrants working in the informal sector.

The informal economy exists, however, in various sectors of the Belgian economy. The Social Inspectorate identifies several sectors where human trafficking and economic exploitation are likely to develop, and found regional differences (MERI, 2003). The high-risk sectors for informal work are minority ethnic restaurants (in particular Chinese restaurants and kebab shops, generally Turkish or Lebanese), the construction industry (in particular renovation), minority ethnic retail outlets, night shops and phone shops.

In Bulgaria, recent amendments to labour legislation have resulted in a clear reduction in the number of workers employed without contracts, from 4.8 per cent in 2000 to 4.0 per cent in 2003 for the whole economy, and particularly in the private sector – from 10.6 per cent in 2000 to 6.3 per cent in 2003. This tendency has continued and we can assume that presently no more than 5 per cent are working without a contract. At the same time it is difficult to say how many migrant workers are without contracts, some of whom may also be undocumented, as many Bulgarian workers and employees also work without labour contracts. The statistics do not account for those residing without authorisation who are employed by private foreign companies and are not subject to the law or the tax authorities, and very unlikely to be in trade unions.

## 6.2. The experiences of undocumented migrants

Across all the countries covered by this report, little has been written about the experiences of undocumented migrants. What we do know, and what is a consistent feature of undocumented migration in all partner countries, is the particularly vulnerable position that undocumented migrants have in the labour market. There is also some consistency, based on the data that does exist, in relation to the sectors of employment that they work in. There are also common difficulties in getting access to services such as health and education.

#### 6.2.1 Work

A number of UK studies of migrant workers reveal exploitative working conditions, with undocumented workers at the sharp end (e.g. Wright and Pollert, 2006; McKay et al, 2006). Problems identified included: misleading recruitment of workers in their own country, on false promises of good pay, conditions, and housing. In practice what they encountered were extremely long hours, low gross rates of pay and sub-standard accommodation; excessive deductions from pay for accommodation, transport to work, and repayment of the cost of travel to the UK; uncertainty and confusion about who is actually the worker's employer and non-payment (by the employer) of tax and insurance contributions; and the summary dismissal, and eviction from any associated accommodation, of workers who assert their legal rights (CAB, 2004).

Increasing attention is being paid in the UK to the issues of forced labour and trafficking. A report on forced labour published by the Trades Union Congress (Anderson and Rogaly, 2005) argues that a focus on trafficking (which is often associated with sexual exploitation) emphasises immigration rather than employment issues. The report identified four sectors as being of particular concern: care, construction, agriculture and contract cleaning. It found many forms of coercion used to retain workers, such as physical and sexual violence, threats of violence, debt bondage, threats and intimidation based on immigration status, blackmailing, and confiscation of identity documents or withholding of payments. Irregular immigration status was found to put

workers at greater risk of forced labour (Anderson and Rogaly, 2005). A live-in arrangement makes migrants (particularly women) very dependent on their employer and the provision of room and board helps justify their extremely low wages.

Studies in have shown that in Austria undocumented migrants are a particularly vulnerable group, lacking legal and social support from the authorities. Scholars (Anderson 2000: 39, Cruz Roja, 2004) have argued that live-in domestic work can be a rational choice for recently arrived migrant women, but at the same time the live-in arrangement makes them very dependent on the employer, and the provision of accommodation and board is used to justify extremely low wages.

Much of the Spanish literature focuses on the diverse trajectories of migrants into the labour market, while some concentrates on specific geographical areas. There are also studies that discuss the socio-demographic characteristics of irregular migrants. There are also studies on particular communities, for example the Chinese, the Ecuadorian community, Latin American migrants in general, and Moroccans. Further publications refer to undocumented migrants in different sectors of employment, such as the catering sector. Undocumented migration has also been studied from the perspective of the informal economy, and there is literature that focuses on the processes of regularisation.

Historically, migrants in Denmark have been characterised as representing a 'burden' on the State, although recently there has been a change in attitudes towards qualified migrants. Danish policy is aimed at both a reduction and an increase in the number of migrants, offering favourable conditions for those the country is perceived to need and creating barriers for those deemed not useful to the economy. Migrants are traditionally concentrated in major city areas, and are strongly under-represented in the public sector. Self-employed migrants run businesses where hard work, low earnings and poor working conditions are the norm.

In Italy, the experiences of documented and undocumented have been characterised as follows:

"Immigrants are generally employed as unskilled workers with no real vertical mobility, crushed into the lowest wage and professional brackets. Discrimination against migrant workers is also seen in their long working hours, heavy workloads, accidents at work, the risks they face, and even in their under-representation in trade unions" (Laboratorio sull'Immigrazione -Università Ca' Foscari, 2006d).

The employment of undocumented migrant workers in the shadow economy tends to be concentrated within a few specific sectors in Italy: domestic labour and care work, the construction industry, and agriculture. According to the most recent estimates by the Ministry of the Interior and by INPS, of the 1,300,000 migrant women working in domestic labour and care work, only 745,000 have proper employment contracts. In 2005, according to FILLEA-CGIL estimates, the incidence of irregular work among construction workers was from 16 to 25 per cent. Approximately 12,000 undocumented migrants work in agriculture all year round, moving (in a form of circular migration) from one region to another, according to the harvest times of specific fruits and vegetables.

Several studies on undocumented migrants in Belgium have been carried out over the last seven years. Some deal with migration experiences, in terms of trajectories and networks, and with illegal work. The most recent study is a survey of around 130 undocumented people in eight large cities in Belgium, carried out between April 2000-June 2001 (Adam et al 2002). The study distinguishes two kinds of migrants: the ones who entered the country illegally and those who became 'illegal' when their legal stay expired. The latter had lived in Belgium for several years and had developed many links in the host country. Another study (Slimane, 1995) on undocumented migration in Belgium indicates that undocumented workers usually have to cope with deskilling, in particular recent migrants, who often have higher levels of qualifications than previous generations. A study on undocumented migrant women in Belgium (Colfen, 2001) collected accounts and tried to identify the reasons which led them to emigrate to Belgium: sexual and physical violence, divorce, family rejection, family oppression and religion, war, poverty, forced prostitution, political reasons etc. In their accounts of their migratory paths, women also recalled their arrival in Belgium, their difficulties with procedures and confinement in detention centres. The authors evoke the uncertainty of the migratory project due to the difficulty of finding work, and different forms of exploitation faced: economic exploitation, human trafficking and prostitution. The very harsh living conditions of migrant women in detention centres is also mentioned (Colfen, 2001).

Belgium was one of the first EU countries to adopt a law against human trafficking in 1995, which has been recently reformed to conform to EU requirements. The law punishes trafficking in human beings as well as human exploitation (sexual or economic exploitation). A Protocol of collaboration, to fight the trade in human trafficking, was concluded between the social inspectorate of the Minister of the Social Security and the social inspectorate of the Minister of the Social Security and the most affected sectors, such as cleaning, restaurants and prostitution.

There are no studies specifically on the experiences of undocumented migrants in Bulgaria. However, there is evidence that public attitudes to migrant communities in Bulgaria are changing. Surveys conducted in 2003 and 2006 by Manfred Wörner Foundation (2006) on public attitudes towards migrant communities showed that the number of Bulgarians working with non-Bulgarian national colleagues (at work or in universities) increased from 5 per cent in 2003 to 7 per cent in 2006. The percentage of people who had friends who were migrants increased from 3 per cent to 10 per cent and the number of people with migrant neighbours grew from 1 per cent to 4 per cent. While Bulgarians say they feel sympathetic towards West Europeans, Russians, Serbs, Americans, Greeks, Jews, Chinese and Turks, antipathy towards Arabs, Afghans, Albanians and Kosovans persists, with the purported reason being the increasing threat of terrorism, associated in the public perception with Islamic fundamentalism, Chechens and Albanians.

Among migrants themselves, 38 per cent of migrants surveyed claimed that they felt 'successfully integrated' into Bulgarian society, and 10 per cent stated that they lived "very well". Another 37 per cent felt they were partially integrated, but were not satisfied with their status. But a final group considered themselves as a marginalised community: they do not speak Bulgarian, have no regular job and income, their life is restricted to the migrant community and they are ready to leave the country at the first opportunity Migrants from poorer countries felt worse off in Bulgaria than migrants from the more developed countries. 64 per cent claimed that Bulgarian legislation in relation to foreigners is good and guarantees their rights, and almost 63 per cent said that they knew the most important Bulgarian laws. However 46 per cent said that even if they had equal rights with Bulgarians, foreigners are discriminated against (Manfred Wörner Foundation: 2006).

#### 6.2.2 Access to services

Undocumented migrants either have no right of access to public services, primarily health services or have restricted access. They are more reliant on services provided through NGOs or voluntary organisations.

Historically, migrants have had access to health services in the UK, without checks on their immigration status. Similarly in education, there has been a strong reluctance to enforce immigration checks when admitting pupils (Anderson, undated). However, this situation is changing in the UK, and the government is putting greater emphasis on denying access to services for those that it considers are not in the UK legitimately (Home Office, 2007b). The government has also recently announced plans to cut access to free English language classes for asylum seekers and others, proposals, which have been vigorously opposed by the University and College Lecturers' Union, contradicting its own policies on urging migrants to learn English.

In Austria, illegally resident foreign nationals are not eligible to access the social security system. Social and medical care for them is in most cases

limited to urgent medical aid, which has to be paid privately. Mostly private ambulances and surgeries, run by NGOs or religious orders, are used by undocumented migrants. It is also common practice that NGOs providing language trainings for migrants do not ask for the residence status of their clients.

A lack of legal papers makes it impossible in Denmark to have access to services of any kind without risking repatriation. It is assumed, however, that the existence of the so-called parallel society<sup>12</sup> and close minority ethnic networks make access to certain kinds of services possible (Goli & Rezaei, 2006 & 2007).

Equality of access to the national health system in Italy for migrants with residence permits was introduced in 1998, while guaranteeing undocumented migrants the right, in cases of illness or injury, to urgent – including ongoing - out-patient and hospital treatment provided by public or accredited services (Progetto Equal "Tante Tinte," 2004), and recognised the right to education for the school-age children of undocumented migrants.

Undocumented foreign residents in Bulgaria are not eligible to access the social security system, and social or medical care is in most cases limited to urgent medical aid, which has to be paid for privately.

## 6.3 Migration status transitions

The reports show that in all partner countries there are several ways for migrants to become irregular, either on arrival in the country without permission or through remaining in the country beyond their permitted period of stay, or breaching the terms of their resident permit, such as by working. The ways in which irregular or undocumented migrants can then gain documented status vary in each country, with Belgium, Italy and Spain having operated large-scale regularisation programmes, while other countries such as Austria and the UK reject this approach entirely.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Migrant informally organised and institutionalised networks that compete with the institutions of mainstream society in creating opportunities for socio-economic mobility, specifically in situations where formal institutions have failed to bring about equal opportunities to progress. The parallel society is, among other things, characterised by alternative modes of solidarity and trust.

In the UK, Black et al's (2005) study of 83 migrants who had been arrested and were in detention, found that more than half had entered the UK illegally, although 28 then claimed asylum, while 33 had entered legally but overstayed their visa. The sample is not representative of the illegally resident population in the UK in terms of country of origin, as some groups are more likely to be detained than others, but only of the population in detention at that time, with 20 per cent coming from Central and Eastern Europe, 18 per cent from West Africa, 16 per cent from South Asia, 16 per cent from the Caribbean and 14 per cent from the Balkans. Agents had been used by 46 of the respondents to assist them in coming to the UK. Some Chinese agents charged between £10,000 and £20,000, generally taking the form of a loan to be repaid on arrival. Indian and Pakistani respondents reported smaller sums paid to agents of £4,000 to £6,000.

Another study of undocumented migrants in the UK from Brazil, Poland and Turkey (Jordan and Düvell, 2002) found different routes of entry and status transitions. Most Brazilians came as tourists and then applied for student visas through language schools. Some then gained European passports and a few women married EU citizens. The Poles (the study was undertaken before 2004) arrived as tourists, and only three applied for asylum. A few women married EU citizens, but most, if they were returned to Poland, simply got new passports and came back. Migrants from Turkey arrived through a variety of means, and about three-quarters applied for asylum, but most remained without permission for a time, and had worked informally.

Although the UK government is opposed to one-off amnesties for undocumented workers (JCWI, 2006), there is a permanent system of regularisation for those who have been in the country continuously for 14 years, regardless of legal status, and for families with small children who have been in the country for seven years (Levinson, 2005). These applicants are given indefinite leave to remain, with exceptions made only where there are serious concerns, such as a criminal history. In 1998, 5,900 long residence concessions were granted (Guild, 2000, cited in Levinson, 2005). In Austria there are many ways of becoming undocumented - from noncompliance with the integration agreement, lacking a means of support, being caught in informal employment, being rejected as an asylum seeker and failure to observe the time-limits for application. Under the current provisions, unemployment can lead also to expulsion from Austria. And since 2006 artists and sex workers no longer have the right to an unlimited residence permit. The main State approaches to dealing with undocumented migration are voluntary repatriation and forced return (deportation), combating trafficking, combating "fictitious" marriages and adoptions, domestic control through onthe-street identity controls and inter-departmental cooperation. The focus is on preventive measures, such as border controls, anti-smuggling operations and restrictive visa politics.

For undocumented migrants in Austria, there are only a few ways of becoming legalised, i.e. applying for humanitarian residence under certain circumstances; applying for citizenship after a certain number of years; adoption by or marriage with an EEA citizen (although these routes have been curtailed in the latest amendment to the Aliens Law in 2006). A third way is to be accepted as an asylum seeker. Regularisations, however, are not discussed as part of Austrian policy.

Undocumented migrants arrive in Spain in several ways. Many Latin Americans enter with tourist visas, often via other EU countries, and go into employment, while most migrants from Africa cross the 14-km wide Strait of Gibraltar in small boats called "pateras". Spanish police boats patrol the Strait, and estimate they catch one in four migrants attempting entry into Spain. Those caught are taken to detention centres in Spain, while those who succeed usually head towards the intensive-agriculture areas of Almeria, Murcia and Huelva. An Amnesty International report (2005) noted that many of those who arrive at the Moroccan frontier with Ceuta - the closest Spanish city to Africa - arrive from countries where grave human rights violations are known to take place, such as Algeria, Côte d'Ivoire, Congo, Iraq, Liberia, Democratic Republic of Congo and Sudan. The Canary Islands is also a main gateway for Spain and Europe, and in 2006 around 24,000 undocumented migrants arrived in the Canary Islands, arriving mainly from West African and sub-Saharan countries such as Senegal and Mali. The situation in the Canary Islands has also been denounced last year by human rights organisations that described the policy as a breach of the Geneva Convention on the treatment of refugees (Amnesty International, 2006).

Once undocumented migrants have arrived in Spain without detection by the police, there are two ways they can acquire documentation. The first one is a procedure that was introduced with law LO 4/2000 (Art. 31) in 2001, that grants a special temporary residence and work permit after a long period of irregular stay in Spain. The second and more common way is through the so-called regularisation processes, the latest of which took place in 2005. There were 691,655 applications under the 2005 regularisation process, of which over 83 per cent were granted. At the beginning of March 2006 the number of people who had been regularised was approximately 576, 000. The percentage of documented migrants grew by 38.5 per cent, reaching a total of 2,738,932.

The Danish government, together with the political establishment, have until very recently believed that undocumented migration is a phenomenon that hardly exists in Denmark, and that an individual that is not properly authorised would find it difficult to make a living. However it is recognised by others that entering the country as asylum seekers, students and those on tourist visas who overstay, or simply crossing the borders illegally, are the main ways in which people can become undocumented migrants in the country.

It is argued that in Italy, during the last twenty years, immigration legislation and the deregulation of the labour market have converged to institutionalise casualisation as a structural element of the economy, which also includes the systematic production of "illegality" among migrants (Basso and Perocco, 2003). One instrument in the creation of "illegality" has been the law that made provision for amnesties to regularise situations of previous illegality, which had come about precisely because, until then, Italy did not have legislation to regulate the entry and residence of migrant workers, apart from a few ministerial memorandums. To date, six amnesties have been decreed. Another element in the creation of undocumented status has been the

"governing" of migration movements through decrees that annually set an upper limit on the number of entries for the purpose of work. For many years the decrees made provision for very few entries and, in some years, none were issued, resulting in migrants entering Italy illegally or, more frequently, falling into illegality as "overstayers". While a law passed in 1998 recognised immigration as a structural part of Italian society and introduced measures such as residence card, further changes have introduced restrictive requirements that can push workers further into irregular status, for example, the "residence contract" that says that the employer must guarantee the migrant worker's housing and possible repatriation expenses.

A study of undocumented migration in Belgium (Slimane, 1995) found two major issues of concern for undocumented migrants who arrived illegally in Belgium: moving from their undocumented status and avoiding arrest and expulsion. They try to develop formal strategies for obtaining a residence permit (through regularisation or naturalisation), which require a minimum of resources, knowledge and links. They also develop formal strategies, such as marriage or adoption. Informal strategies consist of help from a third party who will be able to have an influence on the undocumented migrant's position (lawyer, school, NGO, trade unions etc.).

In Belgium, the two regularisation operations of 1974 and 2000 did not resolve the question of undocumented migrants, with many are demanding a continuous regularisation process. In February 2006, 10,000 people demonstrated in Brussels to support the claims of undocumented migrants.

The right to work legally in Bulgaria for migrants is limited by the work permit rules that say that non-nationals can only be given permits for positions which do not have a mandatory requirement of Bulgarian nationality, that are in the interests of the national labour market; and that the total number of nonnationals hired by the employer does not exceed 10 per cent of the average number of the people on the payroll. It is thought that 10 to 15 per cent of migrants are residing without authorisation in Bulgaria, many of whom will work in the informal economy. However, there are few routes to legal status for them.

## **Bibliography**

- Adam I., N. Ben Mohammed, B. Kagné, M. Martinello, A. Rea. (2002). *Histoires sans papiers.* Bruxelles : Vista
- Aguilera Izquierdo, R. (2006) El acceso de los inmigrantes irregulares al mercado de trabajo: el proceso de regularización extraordinaria y el arraigo social y laboral. Revista del Ministerio de Trabajo y Asuntos Sociales number 63, Madrid
- Aguirre, M and Clavijo, C. (eds) (2002) Políticas sociales y estado de bienestar en España: las migraciones. Fundación Hogar del Empleado, Informe 2002, Madrid.
- Alaluf M. (2001) Des clandestins aux sans papiers. in Pickels A (Éd) À la lumière des sans papiers. Bruxelles : Éd Complexe, 89-98.
- Alaluf M., R. De Schutter (2003). 'La régularisation des travailleurs clandestins (1974-2002)'. S. Bellal, Berns Th., Cantelli F., Faniel J. (Éds). Syndicats et société civile : des liens à (re)découvrir. Bruxelles : Labor, 93-102.
- Ambrosini M. (2006), "Gli immigrati nel mercato del lavoro italiano," in Caritas/Migrantes (2006), Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2006. XVI Rapporto, Roma: Idos.
- Ambrosini M., D. Erminio and F. Lagomarsino (2005), Donne immigrate e mercato del lavoro in provincia di Genova, Genova: Fratelli Frilli Editori.

Amnesty International (2005) Spain: the Southern Border (June 2005)

- Amnesty International (2006) Spain and Morocco: Failure to protect the rights of migrants-one year on, AI Index: EUR 14/009/2006.
- Anastasia B., S. Bragato and M. Rasera (2004), Il lavoro nero degli immigrati. Una lettura delle divergenze tra regolarità amministrativa della presenza in Italia e regolarità contributiva del lavoro svolto.
- Anderson, B. and Rogaly, B. (2005) *Forced labour and migration to the UK,* London: Trades Union Congress.
- Anderson, P. (undated) In a Twilight World Undocumented Migrants in the United Kingdom, http://www.geocities.com/jrsuk/Twilight.html
- Arango, J.; Suárez, L. (2003) Regularización y mercado de trabajo. Ministry for Employment and Social Affairs, Madrid.
- Areste, P. (1997) Flujos migratorios y regularizaciones en España, 1985-1993. Universidad de Barcelona, PhD Thesis, Barcelona.

Arlacchi P. (1999), Schiavi. Il nuovo traffico di esseri umani, Milano: Rizzoli.

Arriola J. and L. Vasapollo (2005), L'uomo precario nel disordine globale, Milano: Jaca Book.

- Baldaccini, A. (2003) *EU and US Approaches to the Management of Immigration: United Kingdom*, Eds. Jan Niessen, Yongmi Schibel and Raphaele Magoni. Brussels: Migration Policy Group.
- Ballerini A. and A. Benna (2004), *Il muro invisibile. Immigrazione e legge Bossi-Fini*, Genova: Fratelli Frilli Editori.

Bank of England (2006) Inflation Report February 2006.

- Barbagli M., A. Colombo and G. Sciortino (eds.) (2004), *I sommersi e i sanati. Le regolarizzazioni degli immigrati in Italia*, Bologna: Il Mulino.
- Barganha, M.; Reyneri, E. (2001) La inmigración en los países del sur de Europa y su inserción en la economía informal", in El impacto de la inmigración en la economía y la sociedad receptora. Anthropos, Barcelona
- Basso P. (1998), Tempi moderni, orari antichi. L'orario di lavoro a fine secolo, Milano: FrancoAngeli; Modern Times, Ancient Hours. Working Lives in the Twenty-first Century, trans. G. Donis, London & New York: Verso.
- Basso P. (2000), Razze schiave e razze signore. Vecchi e nuovi razzismi, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Basso P. (2003), "Sviluppo diseguale, migrazioni, politiche migratorie," in Basso P. and F. Perocco (eds.) (2003), *Gli immigrati in Europa. Diseguaglianze, razzismo, lotte*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.

- Basso P. (2004), "Politiche migratorie e precarizzazione del lavoro," in F. Coin (ed.) (2004), *Gli immigrati, il lavoro, la casa. Tra segregazione e mobilitazione*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Basso P. and F. Perocco (2003), "Gli immigrati in Europa," in P. Basso and F. Perocco (eds.) (2003), *Gli immigrati in Europa. Diseguaglianze, razzismo, lotte*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Basso P. and F. Perocco (eds.) (2000), *Immigrazione e trasformazione della società*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Basso P. and F. Perocco (eds.) (2003), *Gli immigrati in Europa. Diseguaglianze, razzismo, lotte*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Bauböck R. (2001) Österreichische Migrationspolitik, http://www.migration.cc/40jahre.html, accessed 2007-04-16
- Beltrán, J. (2000) "Empresa familiar, trabajo, redes sociales y familia en el colectivo chino" Ofrim suplementos June, 2000, 129-153.
- Biffl G. (2002) Data comparison: School Statistics and Resident Population According to Population Update and Microcensus (Datenabgleich: Schulstatistik und Wohnbevölkerung gemäß Fortschreibung und Mikrozensus). In Biffl G. (Coordination) Integration of Foreigners and their Effects on the Labour Market in Austria (Arbeitsmarktrelevante Effekte der Ausländerintegration in Österreich), Vienna: WIFO/Austrian Institute for Economic Research: pp. 102-127
- Biffl G. (2002) Estimation on the Extent of the Informal Economy in Austria (Schätzung des Ausmaßes der Schwarzarbeit in Österreich). In Biffl G. (Coordination) Integration of Foreigners and their Effects on the Labour Market in Austria (Arbeitsmarktrelevante Effekte der Ausländerintegration in Österreich), Vienna: WIFO/Austrian Institute for Economic Research: pp.362-364
- Biffl G. (2002) Illegal Employment (Illegale Beschäftigung). In Biffl G. (Coordination) Integration of Foreigners and their Effects on the Labour Market in Austria (Arbeitsmarktrelevante Effekte der Ausländerintegration in Österreich), Vienna: WIFO/Austrian Institute for Economic Research: pp. 346-350
- Biffl G. (2006) SOPEMI Report on Labour Migration Austria 2005-06, Vienna: Austrian Institute of Economic Research/WIFO
- Biffl G. (Coordination) (2002) Integration of Foreigners and their Effects on the Labour Market in Austria (Arbeitsmarktrelevante Effekte der Ausländerintegration in Österreich), Vienna: WIFO/Austrian Institute for Economic Research
- Biffl G. and J. Bock-Schappelwein (2006) On the Settlement of Foreigners in Austria (Zur Niederlassung von Ausländern in Österreich), Vienna: Austrian Institute of Economic Research/WIFO
- Black, R., Collyer, M., Skeldon, R. and Waddington, C. (2005) A survey of the illegally resident population in detention in the UK, Home Office Online Report 20/05.
- Blanco, D. (2004) first appeared in El País newspaper on 2 January 2004. Spain: A land of asylum? by Delia Blanco
- Bulgarian Helsinki Committee. (2006). Survey on migrants' rights in Bulgaria. Final report, November 2006.
- CAB (2004) Nowhere to turn: CAB evidence on the exploitation of migrant workers, London: Citizens Advice Bureau.
- Cachón, L. (2003) Itinerarios laborales de los inmigrantes: mercado de trabajo y trayectorias sociales, in Tornos, A. (ed.), 41-78
- Caesteker F. (2000). Alien policy in Belgium. 1840-1940. The creation of guest workers refugees and illegal aliens. Oxford : Berghan Books
- Caffio F. (2003), "Immigrazione clandestina via mare. L'esperienza italiana nella vigilanza, prevenzione e contrasto," supplement to *Rivista Marittima* no. 10/2003.
- Caixeta L., B. Haas, B. Haidinger, S. Rappold, D. Rechling, Daniela and P. Ripota (2004) *Housework and Caretaking. Migrant Women in Private Homes, Austrian Report.* In Cruz Roja (Coordination) Private Homes, Caretaking, Frontiers. Migrant Women's Rights and the Reconciliation of Work and Family: Madrid
- Camilloni S. (2006), Fenomeno Overstayers. Vicinale: il 60% dei clandestini resta con il visto scaduto, in: http://www.stranierinitalia.it.
- Capacity of local authorities and NGOs to develop and implement policies for immigrants' integration (2006). In: Manfred Wörner Foundation.

Carbone A. E. (ed.) (2005), "Irregolari al lavoro. Evidenze e scenari di una politica attiva," in *Quaderni Spinn/Ministero del Lavoro e delle Politiche Sociali*, no. 19.

Caritas/Migrantes (2004), Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2004. XIV Rapporto, Roma: Idos.

Caritas/Migrantes (2005), Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2005. XV Rapporto, Roma: Idos.

Caritas/Migrantes (2006), Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2006. XVI Rapporto, Roma: Idos.

- Carlier J-Y. (2006). "L'évolution du droit des étrangers". *Penser l'intégration autrement.* Bruxelles: Bruylant, 105-113
- Carlier J-Y., A. Rea (2002). Les étrangers en Belgique : étrangers, immigrés, réfugiés, sans-papiers. Dossier du Crisp. n°54. Bruxelles
- Carrasco, C. (1998) Economía sumergida y trabajador inmigrante Migraciones 4, 1998, 9-33
- Centre for Study of Democracy (2003). The Informal Economy in the EU Accession Countries, Sofia (in Bulgarian only)
- Centre for Study of Democracy (2004). The Hidden Economy in Bulgaria, Sofia
- Centre pour l'égalité des chances et la lutte contre le racisme (2006). Flux migratoires en provenance des nouveaux Etats membres de l'Union européenne vers la Belgique, Tendances et perspectives.
- Centre pour l'égalité des chances et la lutte contre le racisme (2005). La politique belge en matière de traite des êtres humains : Ombres et lumières, Rapport annuel, Novembre.
- Chamber of Labour/Bundesarbeiterkammer (2005) Ein Jahr EU-Erweiterung Trends und Fakten, Vienna
- Checa, F. (1995) Del riesgo de las pateras a la supervivencia en los invernaderos. Inmigrantes en la provincia de Almería, in Revista de Economía y Sociología del Trabajo 29-30, 1995, 152-167.
- Chiaretti G. (ed.) (2005), C'è posto per la salute nel nuovo mercato del lavoro? Medici e sociologi a confronto, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Cinar D., A. Gächter and H. Waldrauch (2000) *Irregular Migration: Dynamics, Impact, Policy Options*, Vienna: Eurosocial 67/00
- Coin F. (2006), Il produttore consumato. Saggio sul malessere dei lavoratori contemporanei, Padova: Il Poligrafo.
- Coin F. (ed.) (2004), Gli immigrati, il lavoro, la casa. Tra segregazione e mobilitazione, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Colectivo IOÉ (1998) Inmigración y trabajo en España. Trabajadores inmigrantes en el sector de la hostelería. Ministry for Employment and Social Affairs, Madrid
- Colectivo IOÉ (2001) "Una aproximación descriptiva a la situación de la inmigración ecuatoriana en España: los trabajadores del servicio doméstico", in Migración, comunicación y desarrollo en Ecuador. Madrid.
- Colfen, (2001). *Femmes en migration*. Bruxelles : Femmes en Noir contre les centres fermés et les expulsions, Juin.
- Commission des Communautés européennes. COM (2006) 48 : « Rapport sur le fonctionnement des dispositions transitoires visées au traité d'adhésion de 2003 (période du 1er mai 2004 au 30 avril 2006)»
- Community Links (2006) *Measuring the London Borough of Hackney's informal economy*, London: Community Links.
- Conseil supérieur de l'emploi (2006). «L'accès au marché belge du travail des ressortissants des nouveaux Etats membres de l'Union européenne : avis »
- Convention on the Status of Refugees (1951). Geneva.
- Coordinamento precari Istat (2004), "I precari danno i numeri," in: *INFOXOA Rivista di quotidiano movimento*, no. 018, giugno 2004.
- Craig, G., Gaus, A., Wilkinson, M., Skrivankova, K. and McQuade, A. (2007) *Contemporary slavery in the UK: Overview and key issues*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- Danish Ministry of, 2006: International Migration and Denmark, Danish Ministry of Refugee, immigrants and Integration affair.

- De Bruycker P. (Éd) (2000). La régularisation des étrangers illégaux dans l'Union européenne. Bruxelles. Bruylant
- De Marco M. (2006), "Irregolarità: tendenze e prospettive," in Caritas/Migrantes (2006), *Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2006. XVI Rapporto*, Roma: Idos.
- Demographic development of R Bulgaria (2005). Sofia: National Council for Ethnic and Demographic Issues, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, National Statistical Institute and United Nations Population Fund, pp.18-19 (in Bulgarian).
- Demographic development of R Bulgaria (2005). Sofia: National Council for Ethnic and Demographic Issues, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, National Statistical Institute and United Nations Population Fund, p. 92 (in Bulgarian).
- Desmarez P., P. Van der Hallen, N. Ouali (2004). *Minorités ethniques en Belgique : migration et marché du travail* Gent. Académia Press
- Dowling, S., Moreton, K. and Wright, L. (2007) *Trafficking for the purposes of labour exploitation: A literature review*, Home Office Online Report 10/07.
- Doyen I. (forthcoming). "les lignes directrices de la réforme de la procedure d'asile". in *Année Sociale 2006*. Bruxelles : Institut de Sociologie
- Dustmann, C., Fabbri, F., Preston, I. and Wadsworth, J. (2003) The local labour market effects of immigration in the UK, Home Office Online Report 06/03.
- Echsel K. (2003) Aufenthaltsrechtliche Situation von MigrantInnen in Österreich. In Arbeitsgruppe MigrantInnen und Gewalt (ed.) Migration von Frauen und strukturelle Gewalt. Vienna: Milena Verlag
- Ehrenreich B. and A. R. Hochschild (2004), Donne globali. Tate, colf e badanti, Milano: Feltrinelli.
- EMN European Migration Network (2005), Irregular Migration in Italy. Italian Contribution to the Second European Pilot Study, Roma: Idos.
- Ensor, J. and Shah, A. (2005) *Current Immigration Debates in Europe: A Publication of the European Migration Dialogue - The United Kingdom*, Brussels: Migration Policy Group.

Eurispes (2007), XIX Rapporto Eurispes Italia.

European Commission (2004) European Employment Observatory Review: Autumn 2004

European Commission (2004): European Employment Observatory Review: Autumn 2004, p. 188.

- Federal Ministry of Finance/Bundesministerium für Finanzen (2004) Actively and Offensively Combating Fraud (Betrugsbekämpfung aktiv und offensiv), Vienna, October 2004. Available at: http://www.bmf.gv.at/service/ publikationen/download/berichte/Betrug2003.pdf (accessed in July 2005)
- Federal Ministry of the Interior (2005) *Statistics on Asylum and Immigration (Asyl- und Fremdenstatistik)*, Vienna, http://www.bmi.gv.at/downloadarea/asyl\_fremdenwesen\_statistik/Jahr2005.pdf, accessed 2007-04-16
- FILLEA-CGIL (2006), Conferenza sul lavoro sommerso e immigrazione. Sintesi provvisoria di contenuti e proposte.
- Flynn, D. (2005) 'New Borders, new management: The dilemmas of modern immigration policies', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 463-490.
- Foblets MC. (2006). "Les changements de loi sur la nationalité belge". *Penser l'intégration autrement.* Bruxelles: Bruylant, 219-238
- Fondation Roi Baudouin (2003) Le personnel domestique international en Belgique : protéger, prévenir les abus, sensibiliser. Communiqué de presse. 26 février.

Fondazione ISMU (2006), Undicesimo rapporto sulle migrazioni. 2005, Milano: FrancoAngeli.

- Fondazione ISMU (2007), Dodicesimo rapporto sulle migrazioni. 2006, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Forget B. (sd) Los clandestinos : mode d'emploi. Collection migrations. Louvain-la-Neuve : Academia-Bruylant.
- Fumagalli A. (2003), "Flessibilità o precarizzazione del lavoro?", in *L'Italia flessibile. Economia, costi sociali, diritti di cittadinanza* (2003), Roma: Manifestolibri.
- Gächter, A. (2006) Migration and the Austrian Labour Market in an Enlarging European Union, http://www.zsi.at/attach/06supply.pdf, accessed 2007-04-16

- Gächter, A.(1998) Rechtliche Rahmenbedingungen und ihre Konsequenzen. In Austrian Employment Service/AMS (ed.) AusländerInnen in Österreich, Vienna: Wissenschaftsverlag: pp. 10-27
- Galand P-L. (2001). « La régularisation des sans-papiers. Le point de vue d'un membre de la commission » in *l'Année sociale*, Bruxelles : ULB, 90-96
- Galossi E. (2003), "Parità di trattamento e sicurezza sociale nelle convenzioni internazionali," in IRES-CGIL (2003), *Immigrazione e sindacato. Lavoro, discriminazione e rappresentanza. III Rapporto Ires*, Roma: Ediesse.
- Gendera, S. (2007) Transnational Care Space Central Europe: Working and Living Conditions of Irregular Migrants in Domestic Care (Transnational Care Space Zentraleuropa: Arbeit- und Lebensbedingungen von irregulär beschäftigten Migrantinnen in der häuslichen Pflege), Master Thesis: University of Vienna
- Glover, S., Gott, C., Loizillon, A., Portes, J., Price, R., Spencer, S., Srinivasan, V. and Willis, C. (2001) *Migration: an economic and social analysis*, Home Office RDS Occasional Paper No 67.

Guardian, 5 May 2007, No place like home.

Guidebook on Muslims in the Wide Contemporary Europe (2002) Louvain-la-Neuve: Academia Bruylant

Gürsess, H. C. Kogoj and S. Mattl (ed) (2004) *Gastarbeiterij. 40 Jahre Arbeitsmigration*, Vienna: Mandelbaum

Haidinger, Bettina (2005) Unsichtbare Hausarbeiterinnen. Der Privathaushalt als Arbeitsort für Migrantinnen. In Kontraste 10/2005

Handbook for determining refugee status (1991). Geneva: UNHCR.

- Hansen, Finn Kenneth & Henning Hansen, 2004: Starthjælp og introdutionsydelse Hvordan virker ydelserne? Copenhagen, CASA
- Herranz, Y. (1996) Formas de incorporación laboral de los inmigrantes latinoamericanos en Madrid: importancia del contexto de recepción. Universidad Autónoma de Madrid. PhD Thesis.
- Herranz, Y. (2000) La inmigración profesional en España y las barreras institucionales a su incorporación laboral: el caso de los odontólogos latinoamericanos. Revista Ofrim, June 2000, (pg. 97-129), Madrid

Herzlich, G. (2004). L'immigration mondialisée, Le Monde Initiative, N 31

- Hintermann C. (2000) Die 'neue' Zuwanderung nach Österreich eine Analyse der Entwicklungen seit Mitte der 80er Jahre. In SWS-Rundschau Vol. 40 (1), pp. 5-25
- Home Office (2002) Secure Borders, Safe Haven Integration with Diversity in Modern Britain, White paper CM5387, London: Home Office.
- Home Office (2005) Controlling our borders: Making migration work for Britain, Five year strategy for asylum and immigration, London: Home Office.
- Home Office (2006a) A Points-Based System: Making Migration Work for Britain, Presented to Parliament by the Secretary of State for the Home Department by Command of Her Majesty, Cm 6741, London: Home Office.
- Home Office (2006b) *Borders, Immigration and Identity Action Plan*, December 2006, London: Home Office.
- Home Office (2006c) Control of Immigration statistics United Kingdom 2005, Cm 6904, London: Home Office.
- Home Office (2007a) Accession Monitoring Report May 2004 December 2006, Joint online report by the Home Office, Department for Work and Pensions, HM Revenue and Customs and Communities and Local Government, http://www.ind.homeoffice.gov.uk/6353/aboutus/accessionmonitoringreport10.pdf
- Home Office (2007b) Enforcing the rules: A strategy to ensure and enforce compliance with our immigration laws, London: Home Office.
- Home Office (2007c) Prevention of illegal working: Consultation on the implementation of new powers to prevent illegal migrant working in the UK, London: Home Office.
- Huynk, Duy T., Marie Louise Schultz-Nielsen & Torben Tranaes, 2007: Employment effects of Reducing Welfare to Refugees. Copenhagen: Rockwoold Foundation Research Unit, Study Paper no. 15.

Immigration Advisory Service press release, 6 September 2006, Rising pressure for an "amnesty".

- Inspection sociale (2003). Rapport général relatif aux activités des cellules MERI (Mensenhandel en Risicosectoren, Traite des êtres humains et secteurs à risque) en 2003.
- Institute for International Research on Criminal Policy (IRCP). Le personnel domestique international en Belgique. Université de Gand. 2003.
- Integrationsministeriet (2002) Medborger i Danmark en håndbog for nye borgere i det danske samfund.
- Integrationsministeriet (2003): "Regeringens integrations- og udlændingepolitik"
- Integrationsministeriet (2007) Praktik i de ukrainske landbrugsuddannelser
- Integrationsministeriet (2007): Indfødsretsprøve
- International NGO Training and Research centre (INTRAC) (2005) Capacity Building: Perspectives from the NGO sector in Spain. Praxis Paper num. 5, May 2005 (pg.6)
- International Organisation of Migration (2005a) *Illegal Immigration in Austria*, Vienna, http://www.emn.at/modules/typetool/pnincludes/uploads/FINAL\_VERSION\_ENG.pdf, accessed 2007-04-16
- International Organisation of Migration (2005b) Policy Report: Immigration and Integration in Austria, Vienna

http://www.emn.at/modules/typetool/pnincludes/uploads/Policy%20Report%20NCP%20Austria-2005.pdf, accessed 2007-04-16

- International Organisation of Migration (2006) Return Migration in Austria. Austrian contribution to the European Research Study Project III: "Return Migration in the EU Member States", Vienna http://www.emn.at/modules/typetool/pnincludes/uploads/PS%20III%20Return%20FINAL\_ENG\_Ir.pd f, accessed 2007-04-16
- IOM (2006) Female Migrants: Bridging The Gaps Throughout The Life Cycle, Selected Papers of the UNFPA-IOM Expert Group Meeting New York, 2-3 May 2006, Geneva: International Organization for Migration.
- Ippr (2006) Irregular migration in the UK: an ippr Factfile, April 2006, London: Institute for Public Policy Research.
- IRES-CGIL (2003a), Immigrazione e sindacato. Lavoro, discriminazione e rappresentanza. III Rapporto Ires, Roma: Ediesse.
- IRES-CGIL (2003b), Terzo rapporto sul lavoro atipico in Italia: verso la stabilizzazione del precariato?, Roma: Rapporto per Nidil-Cgil.
- IRES-CGIL (2006a), Emersione dal lavoro nero: diritti e sviluppo. Le principali esperienze di policy in Italia e nei Paesi dell'Unione Europea, Roma: Ediesse.
- IRES-CGIL (2006b), Immigrazione e sindacato. Stesse opportunità, stessi diritti. IV Rapporto Ires, Roma: Ediesse .
- IRES-CGIL (2006c), I volti del sommerso. Percorsi di vita dentro il lavoro irregolare, Rapporto di ricerca.
- ISTAT (2004), La misura dell'economia sommersa secondo le statistiche ufficiali. Anno 2002, Roma: ISTAT.
- ISTAT (2005a), La misura dell'economia sommersa secondo le statistiche ufficiali. Anno 2003, Roma: ISTAT.
- ISTAT (2005b), Rilevazione sulle forze di lavoro. III trimestre 2005, Roma: ISTAT.
- ISTAT (2006a), La misura dell'economia sommersa secondo le statistiche ufficiali. Anni 2000-2004, Roma: ISTAT.
- ISTAT (2006b), Rilevazione sulle forze di lavoro. III trimestre 2006, Roma: ISTAT.
- Izquierdo, A. (1994) Consecuencias de la regularización de trabajadores extranjeros: 1991-1992, in Papers. Revista de Sociología 43, 1994, 125-131.
- Izquierdo, A. (1996) "El colectivo marroquí en el ámbito de los trabajadores regularizados en 1991" in López, B. Atlas de la inmigración marroquí, 90-91.
- JCWI (2006) Recognising rights, recognising political realities: The case for regularizing irregular migrants, London: Joint Council for the Welfare of Immigrants.
- Jones, T., Ram, M. and Edwards, P. (2006) 'Ethnic minority business and the employment of illegal immigrants', *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 113-150.

- Jordan, B. and Düvell, F. (2002) *Irregular Migration: The dilemmas of Transnational Mobility,* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Jubany-Baucells, O. (2004) SMILING: Skilled Migrants and Labour Market Integration. Final report, by DG Employment and Social Affairs of the European Commission.
- Jubany-Baucells, O. (2006) Refugees? What refugees? The case of Spain. Studi EMigrazione, n. 1, 2006, Rifugiati, asilanti e profughi nell'Unione Europea. Oxford Brooks University, UK.
- Justitsministeriet, Udenrigsministeriet & Integrationsministeriet (2006): Notat om Institut for menneskerettigheders Hvidbog af oktober 2005 om ægtefællesammenføring.
- Kagn é B. (2000). « Qui sont les sans-papiers en Belgique ». Osmose, Avril-Mai-Juin. n°19.
- Kagné B. (2001) « Easy scapegoats Undocumented immigrants in Europe (Belgian report) ». Freudenberg Stiftung. Université de Liège : CEDEM, 19-27
- Kagné B. (2001) « Sans-papiers en Belgique Éléments d'analyse d'une catégorie sociale à facettes multiples ». in Pickels A (Éd). (2001). À la lumière des sans papiers. Bruxelles : Éd Complexe, 41-59
- Kalchev, V. (Ministry of Labour and Social Policy). The New Migration Policy of R Bulgaria. Bilateral agreements for workforce exchange. A round table meeting on "Free movement of workers and access to the labour market in the EU member states". Sofia" 10 December 2002. (in Bulgarian)
- Kaßberger F. and R. Schwarzl (2000) Zur Vollständigkeit der BIP/BSP-Berechnungen. In Statistische Nachrichten 2/2000, Vienna: pp. 142-148
- Kempton, J. (2002) Migrants in the UK: Their characteristics and labour market outcomes and impacts, Home Office RDS Occasional Paper No 82.
- Kesteloot C., Meert H. (1999) 'Informal Spaces: the geography of informal economic activities' in International Journal of Urban and Regional Research. Bruxelles. Tome 23. n°2.
- Kofman E., et.al. (2000) Gender and International Migration in Europe, London/New York: Routledge
- Kofman, E., Raghuram, P. and Merefield, M. (2005) *Gendered migrations: Towards gender sensitive policies in the UK*, Asylum and Migration Working Paper 6, London: Institute for Public Policy Research.
- König K. (1998) *The Austrian Migration Regime from 1945 until Today (Das österreichische Migrationsregime von 1945 bis heute)*. In Schmeiser J. et al. (ed.) Before Information: State Architectur (Staatsarchitektur: Vor der Information), Vienna: pp. 150-155
- König K. and B. Perchinig (2005) Austria. In Niessen J., Y. Schibel and C. Thompson (ed.) Current Immigration Debates in Europe: A Publication of the European Migration Dialogue. Brussels, http://www.migpolgroup.com/multiattachments/2956/DocumentName/EMD\_Austria\_2005.pdf, accessed 2007-04-16
- König K. and B. Stadler, Bettina (2003) Normative and Legal Frameworks. Development Trends in the Public-Legal and Democratic-Political Field (Normative und rechtliche Rahmenbedingungen. Entwicklungstendenzen im öffentlich-rechtlichen und demokratiepolitischen Bereich). In Fassmann, H. and I. Stacher (ed.) Austrian Migration and Integration Report/Österreichischer Migrations- und Integrationsbericht, Klagenfurt: Drava, pp. 226-260.
- Krasteva, A. (2004) From Ethnicity to Migration, Sofia: NBU (in Bulgarian only)

Krasteva, A. (ed.) (2005) Immigration in Bulgaria, Sofia: IMIR (in Bulgarian only)

- Krezslo E. (2002). « Le travail clandestin, la régularisation, les papiers, le séjour. Aperçu du marché du travail clandestin en Belgique et à Bruxelles en particulier ». *Travail-Emploi-Formation*, 3, 45-106.
- Kuzmanov, V. (2006). Refugees in the context of the common migration flows. International system for refugee protection. Refugee protection in Bulgaria. (V.Kuzmanov is a state expert at the State Agency for Refugees) (<u>http://www.airm-bg.org/dokumenti/ Presentation\_</u>VKuzmanov.doc) (in Bulgarian)

Kymlicka, W. (1995). Multicultural citizenship, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

L'Italia flessibile. Economia, costi sociali, diritti di cittadinanza (2003), Roma: Manifestolibri.

- Laboratorio sull'immigrazione Università Ca' Foscari (2003), *Racism and Trade Unions. National Report*, Venezia: Ritu Project.
- Laboratorio sull'immigrazione Università Ca' Foscari (2005), Lavoro e discriminazione razziale in Italia. Rapporto 2005 – The Labour Dimension of Racial Discrimination. 2005 Report, Venezia: Raxen Project - Eumc (Wien).

- Laboratorio sull'immigrazione Università Ca' Foscari (2006a), Lavoro e discriminazione razziale in Italia. Rapporto 2006 The Labor Dimension of Racial Discrimination. 2006 Report, Venezia: Raxen Project Eumc (Wien).
- Laboratorio sull'immigrazione Università Ca' Foscari (2006b), Lavoro e discriminazione razziale in Italia. Special Study 2000-2005 – The Labor Dimension of Racial Discrimination. 2000-2005 Special Study, Venezia: Raxen Project - Eumc (Wien).
- Laboratorio sull'immigrazione Università Ca' Foscari (2006c), *Le politiche migratorie in Italia (1973-2002)*, Venezia.
- Laboratorio sull'immigrazione Università Ca' Foscari (2006d), L'inserimento lavorativo degli immigrati in provincia di Venezia, Venezia: Provincia di Venezia – Assessorato al Lavoro e alla Formazione Professionale.
- Leman J. (1997). « Undocumented migrants in Brussels : diversity and the anthropology of illegality ». *New Community*. 23 (1). 25-41
- Leman J. (ed) (1995). Sans documents : les immigrés de l'ombre : Latino-Américains. Polonais et Nigérians clandestins. Bruxelles : De Boeck Université.
- Leo A., L. Limoccia and N. Piacente (1997), Vite bruciate di terra. Donne e immigrati. Storie, testimonianze, proposte contro il caporalato e l'illegalità, Torino: Gruppo Abele.
- Levinson, A. (2005) The Regularisation of Unauthorized Migrants: Literature Survey and Country Case Studies, Oxford: Centre on Migration, Policy and Society, University of Oxford.
- Limes (2006), L'Italia presa sul serio, no. 2.
- Linares E. (1996) "La política de contingentes de 1993 y 1994" in López, B. Atlas de la inmigración marroquí, 257-258
- Manfred Wörner Foundation. 2006. The Social Attitudes towards Immigration Communities in Bulgaria. National representative survey. Sofia: National Conference, 24.10.2006
- Martens A., H. Verhoeven (2006). "Les minorities ethniques sur le marché de l'emploi en Belgique". *Penser l'intégration autrement.* Bruxelles: Bruylant. 271-297

Martínez Veiga, U. (2001) El Ejido: discriminación, exclusión social y racismo. Madrid, Catarata.

- McKay, S., Craw, M. and Chopra, D. (2006) *Migrant workers in England and Wales: An assessment of migrant worker health and safety risks*, London: Health and Safety Executive.
- Medici Senza Frontiere Missione Italia (ed.) (2005), I frutti dell'ipocrisia. Storie di chi l'agricoltura la fa. Di nascosto, Roma: Sinnos.
- Megale A. and C. Tartaglione (eds.) (2006), Emersione dal lavoro nero: diritti e sviluppo. Le principali esperienze di policy in Italia e nei Paesi dell'Unione Europea, Roma: Ediesse.
- Meillassoux C. (1978), Donne, granai e capitali. Uno studio antropologico dell'imperialismo contemporaneo, Bologna: Zanichelli.
- Melchionda U. and F. Pittau (2006), "Programmazione flussi nel 2005," in Caritas/Migrantes (2006), Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2006. XVI Rapporto, Roma: Idos.
- Melilli M. (2003), Mi chiamo Alì... Identità e integrazione: inchiesta sull'immigrazione in Italia, Roma: Editori Riuniti.

Migration Trends in Selected EU Applicant Countries (2003) Vol. 1 Bulgaria: IOM

- Mikkelsen, Flemming (2003): "Indvandrerorganisationer i Danmark", in Flemming
- Ministre de l'Emploi (2003) " Le personnel domestique international ". Février. Politique de la Ministre: http://www/meta.fgov.be/

Minnucci M. (2007), Un irregolare su due è nel Mezzogiorno, in: www.rassegna.it.

Mitchell, P. and Lee, K. (2006) Spain: Government seeks European clampdown on Canary Islands boat people, 13 October 2006. Published by the International Committee for the Fourth International.

Morini C. (2001), La serva serve. Le nuove forzate del lavoro domestico, Roma: DeriveApprodi.

Münz R., P. Zuser and J. Kytir, (2003) Border-Crossing Migration and Foreign Resident Population: Structure and Development (Grenzüberschreitende Wanderungen und ausländische Wohnbevölkerung: Struktur und Entwicklung) In Fassmann, H. and I. Stacher (ed.) Austrian Migration and Integration Report/Österreichischer Migrations- und Integrationsbericht, Klagenfurt: Drava, pp.20-62 Nascimbene B. (ed.) (2004), Diritto degli stranieri, Padova: Cedam.

National Statistical Institute. (2007). Basic results on the observation of the workforce during the first quarter of 2007 (http://www.nsi.bg/Labour/Labour.htm

OECD (2006): The labour market integration of immigrants in Denmark

OIM [=IOM] (2003), Gli albanesi in Italia. Inserimento lavorativo e sociale, Milano: FrancoAngeli.

- Oliver Alonso (2006) Productividad e inmigración, ¿hacia dónde vamos? Cinco Dias Nov 2006, Madrid
- ONS (2004) International migration migrants entering or leaving the UK and England and Wales, 2003, London: Office for National Statistics.
- Ouali N. (1997) "Emploi: de la discrimination à l'égalité de traitement?". La Belgique et ses étrangers. Les politiques manquées. Paris-Bruxelles: De Boeck & Larcier, 145-165.
- Ouali N. (2000) "Modification de la législation sur le travail des étrangers : vers une sécurité juridique plus grande ?". *L'Année sociale 1999*. Bruxelles. 277-284.
- Ouali N. (2003-1). « Les Marocaines en Europe : diversification des profils migratoires ». Hommes et Migrations n°1242, Mars-avril, 71-82
- Ouali N. (2003-2). «Mondialisation et migrations féminines internationales: l'esclavage au cœur de la modernité». in M Hersent. C Zaidman (dir). Genre. travail et migrations en Europe. Paris : Cahiers du CEDREF n°10, décembre. 101-113
- Ouali N. (2004) « La catégorisation statistique des étrangers. des personnes d'origine étrangère et de leurs descendants en Belgique ». in P, Desmarez. P, Van der Hallen. N, Ouali. V, Degraef. K, Tratsaert (ed,). *Minorités ethniques en Belgique : migration et marché du travail*. Gent: Adacemia press.181-231,

Pajares, M. (2004) Inmigración irregular en Cataluña. Barcelona, CERES

- Palidda S. (2000), "Le migrazioni come crimine," in P. Basso and F. Perocco (eds.) (2000), Immigrazione e trasformazione della società, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Palidda S. (2005), Le pratiche della guerra alle migrazioni, http://www.cestim.it/sezioni/tesi/paliddaguerra-2005.doc.

Pansa A. (2006), "Chi bussa alla nostra porta?", Limes, no. 2.

- Perocco F. (2003), "L'apartheid italiano," in P. Basso and F. Perocco (eds.) (2003), *Gli immigrati in Europa. Diseguaglianze, razzismo, lotte*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Peruzzi W. (2004), Nuovo atlante delle migrazioni, Firenze: Regione Toscana.
- Petrovic D., F. Azil, G. Chiaretti and F. Perocco (eds.) (2006), Athena. Inclusione ed esclusione delle donne immigrate in Alto Adige. Inklusion und Exklusion von Migratinnen in Südtirol, Bolzano: Fondo Sociale Europeo and Provincia Autonoma di Bolzano.
- Piccirilli C. (2003), "La discriminazione verso i cittadini stranieri nei luoghi di lavoro: diritto comunitario e ordinamento interno," in IRES-CGIL (2003), *Immigrazione e sindacato. Lavoro, discriminazione e rappresentanza. III Rapporto Ires*, Roma: Ediesse.
- PICUM (2006) PICUM's Comments on the Communication from the Commission on "Policy priorities in the fight against illegal immigration of third-country nationals" COM (2006) 402 final, Brussels: Platform for International Co-operation on Undocumented Migrants.
- Pinkerton, C., McLaughlan, G., and Salt, J. (2004). *Sizing the Illegally Resident Population in the UK*, Home Office Online Report 58/04, Migration Research Unit, University College London.
- Pittau F. (2005), "35 anni di immigrazione in Italia," in Caritas/Migrantes (2005), *Immigrazione. Dossier* statistico 2005. XV Rapporto, Roma: Idos.
- Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants (PICUM) (2003) Book of Solidarity 2003, Providing Assistance to Undocumented Migrants in Sweden, Denmark and Austria: Brussels
- Poptodorova, E. 2004. Bulgaria's Migration Policy. Mediterranean Quarterly: Fall 2004, pp. 125-132 (Elena Poptodorova is the ambassador of the Republic of Bulgaria to the United States)
- Portes, J. and French, S. (2005) *The impact of free movement of workers from Central and Eastern Europe on the UK labour market: early evidence*, Department of Work and Pensions, Working Paper No. 18.

- Progetto Equal "Tante Tinte" (2004), Integrazione sociale e lavorativa degli immigrati. Normative e prassi a confronto, Torino: OIL [=ILO].
- Protection of Refugees. Guide on International Refugee Law (2001). Geneva: Interparliamentary Union jointly with the UNHCR.

Protocol on the Refugee Status (1967). New York.

- Ram, M., Edwards, P. and Jones, T. (2004) *Informal employment, small firms and the National Minimum Wage*, a report prepared for the Low Pay Commission.
- Ramírez, A. (1996) "Los inmigrantes marroquíes en el proceso de regularización" en López, B. Atlas de la inmigración marroquí, 105-106
- Rechling, Daniela (2004) Rechling, Daniela, Paid Domestic Work: Aspects of the Environment of Illegalised Migrant Women – Structural Framework – Case Study. (Bezahlte Hausarbeit: Aspekte der Lebenswelten von illegalisierten Migrantinnen – strukturelle Rahmenbedingungen – Fallstudie), Master thesis: University of ViennaSchneider, F. (2003) Der Umfang der Schattenwirtschaft des Jahres 2003 in Deutschland, Österreich und der Schweiz – Weiteres Anwachsen der Schattenwirtschaft, Linz, http://www.economics.uni-linz.ac.at/Members/Schneider/default.htm, accessed 2007-04-16
- Reference Book: Refugees in Bulgaria, Building the National System for Refugee Protection (1993-2003). Sofia: UNHCR representation in Bulgaria and the State Agency for Refugees with the Council of Ministers.
- Revue Belge de Sécurité Sociale (2003) *Travail au noir et fraude: une menace pour l'État providence en Belgique et en Europe*, n°3. http://www.socialsecurity.fgov.be/bib/frames/fr/N°3-2003-FR.pdf
- Reyneri E. (2001), *Migrants' Involvement in Irregular Employment in the Mediterranean Countries of the European Union*, Milano: Dipartimento di Sociologia e ricerca sociale dell'Università Bicocca.
- Reyneri E. (2003), "Illegal Immigration and the Underground Economy," paper presented to conference entitled *The Challenges of Immigration and Integration in the European Union and Australia*, 18-20 February 2003, University of Sydney.
- Reyneri E. (2004), "Immigrazione ed economia sommersa nell'Europa meridionale," in *Studi emigrazione*, XLI, no. 153.
- Rezaei, S., Goli, Marco (2005), "Det duale arbejdsmarked i et velfærdsstatsligt perspektiv Et studie af dilemmaet mellem uformel økonomisk praksis og indvandreres socio-økonomiske integration" – Hovedrapport

Rigspolititet – Udlændingeafdelingen (2007): Status på arbejdet med udsendelse af afviste asylsøgere

Robinson, V. (2002) 'Migrant Workers in the UK', Labour Market Trends, September 2002.

- Rosario Cristóbal (2006) Los trabajadores Inmigrantes y el derecho. Revista del Ministerio de Trabajo y Asuntos Sociales number 63, Madrid
- Ruhs, M. and Anderson, B. (2006) Semi-compliance in the migrant labour market, COMPAS Working Paper, 1 May 2006, www.compas.ox.ac.uk/changingstatus.
- Salt, J. (2006) International migration and the United Kingdom, Report of the United Kingdom SOPEMI Correspondent to the OECD, 2006.
- Salt, J. and Millar, J. (2006) 'Foreign Labour in the United Kingdom: Current patterns and trends', Labour Market Trends, October 2006.
- Sayad A. (2002), La doppia assenza. Dalle illusioni dell'emigrato alle sofferenze dell'immigrato, Milano: Cortina.
- Schmidt & Jacobsen (2000), "20 år I Danmark En undersøgelse af nydanseres situation og erfaringer", SFI, Danmark
- Schneider, F. (2003). The Development of the Shadow Economies and Shadow Labour Force of 21 OECD and 22 Transition Countries. Dice Report, Journal for International Comparison, Vol. I, No 1.

Schumacher S. and J. Peyrl (2006) Fremdenrecht, Vienna: ÖGB-Verlag

Sciortino R. (2003), "L'organizzazione del proletariato immigrato in Italia," in P. Basso and F. Perocco (eds.) (2003), *Gli immigrati in Europa. Diseguaglianze, razzismo, lotte*, Milano: FrancoAngeli.

'Sega' daily, No 92, 22.04.2003.

Sivini G. (2000), Migrazioni. Processi di resistenza e innovazione sociale, Soveria Mannelli: Rubbettino.

- Skrivánková, K. (2006) Trafficking for forced labour: UK country report, London: Anti-Slavery International.
- Slimane L. (1995). L'immigration clandestine de main-d'oeuvre dans la Région bruxelloise. Bruxelles : Bruylant.
- Solé C.; Parella, S. (2001) "La inserción de los inmigrantes en el mercado de trabajo. El caso español", en El impacto de la inmigración en la economía y la sociedad receptora. Barcelona, Anthropos.
- Sriskandarajah, D., Cooley, L. and Reed, H. (2005) *Paying their way: The fiscal contribution of immigrants in the UK*, London: institute for public policy research.
- Statisitics Austria/ Statistik Austria (2006) *Wanderungsstatistik* 2005, http://www.statistik.at/neuerscheinungen/download/2006/wanderung04\_www.pdf, accesed 2007-04-16
- Statisitics Austria/ Statistik Austria (2007): *Statistical Yearbook 2007: Population and Migration Movements/Bevölkerung und Wanderungsbewegungen*, Vienna, http://www.statistik.at/jahrbuch\_2007/pdf/K02.pdf, accessed 2007-04-16
- Statistics Austria/Statistik Austria (2004) National Accounts/Volkswirtschaftliche Gesamtrechungen, Vienna
- Stranierinitalia (2007), Ministero del Lavoro: il 90% delle colf è straniero, in: http://www.stranierinitalia.it.
- Tezanos and Tezanos (2005) Fundación de las Cajas de Ahorros (FUNCAS) España 2005: debates y procesos sociales; nº 1: June 2005, Barcelona
- The Asylum and Refugees Act. Sofia: State gazette No 54/ 31.05.2002, in force since 01.12.2002, amended state gazette No 31, 08.04.2005. (in Bulgarian)
- The Contemporary Development of the Migration Policy in Bulgaria. Report of the National Statistical Institute. 2002. archives of the ISTUR, p.25. (in Bulgarian).
- Torfing, Jacob (2003): "Den stille revolution i velfærdsstaten fra forsørgelse og hierarki til aktivering og netværksstyring" i "Drivkræfter bag arbejdsmarkedspolitikken", Per Kongshøj Madsen og Lisbeth Pedersen (red.), Socialforskningsinstitutttet.
- TUC (2002) Migrant workers A TUC guide, London: Trades Union Congress.
- TUC (2004) Migrant workers Overworked, underpaid and over here, London: Trades Union Congress.
- UNA UK (2005) *The UK and the UN: Human Rights.* http://www.unauk.org/election/electionhr.html London: United Nations Association.
- Undeclared labour in construction. The Italian case (2006), CLR News, no.4/2006.
- UNHCR (2003) Press briefing and statement issued at the Palais des Nations in Geneva, 21 November 2003.
- UNHCR (2004), "Rifugiati e richiedenti asilo in Italia," in Caritas/Migrantes (2004), *Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2004. XIV Rapporto*, Roma: Idos.
- UNHCR (2005), "Rifugiati e richiedenti asilo in Europa e in Italia," in Caritas/Migrantes (2005), Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2005. XV Rapporto, Roma: Idos.
- UNHCR (2006), "Richiedenti asilo e rifugiati: il sistema di protezione italiano," in Caritas/Migrantes (2006), *Immigrazione. Dossier statistico 2006. XVI Rapporto*, Roma: Idos.
- Van Broeck A. (1995). "Les immigrés latino-américains sans documents" in J. Leman Sans document Les immigrés de l'ombre Latinos-Américains. Polonais et Nigérians clandestins. Bruxelles : De Boeck Université. 31-70.
- Vertommen S., A. Martens and N. Ouali (2006). « Ethnical topography of the Belgian labour market. Employment, gender, age and ethnicity ». ULB-KUL, Brussels : King Baudouin Foundation.
- Vienna Integration Fund/Wiener Integrationsfonds (2003) *Migrants in Vienna (MigrantInnen in Wien)*, Vienna
- Waldrauch, H and D. Cinar, D. (2003) Policies of Citizenship and Naturalisation in Austria (Staatsbürgerschaftspolitik und Einbürgerungspraxis in Österreich). In Fassmann, H. and I. Stacher (ed.) Austrian Migration and Integration Report/Österreichischer Migrations- und Integrationsbericht, Klagenfurt: Drava, pp. 261-283.
- Woodbridge, J. (205) Sizing the unauthorised (illegal) migrant population in the United Kingdom in 2001, Home Office Online Report 29/05.

Wright, T and Pollert, A. (2006) The Experience of Ethnic Minority Workers in the Hotel and Catering Industry: Routes to Support and Advice on Workplace Problems – Final Report, Acas Research Paper 03/06, London: Acas.

Würtz Sørensen (1998), "Der kom fremmede", Centre for kulturforsknig v/ Århus Universitet, Danmark.

Zhelyazkova, A. (2005). Immigrants from Near and Middle East. In: Immigration in Bulgaria, Sofia: IMIR, pp. 19-74. (in Bulgarian only)